State-Trajectory Analysis and Control of LLC Resonant Converters

Weiyi Feng

Dissertation submitted to the faculty of the Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Doctor of Philosophy in Electrical Engineering

Fred C. Lee, Chair Paolo Mattavelli Dushan Boroyevich Daniel J. Stilwell Alfred L. Wicks

March 29, 2013 Blacksburg, Virginia

Keywords: State-trajectory, optimal control, LLC resonant converter

© 2013, Weiyi Feng

State-Trajectory Analysis and Control of LLC Resonant Converters

Weiyi Feng

ABSTRACT

With the fast development of communication systems, computers and consumer electronics, the power supplies for telecoms, servers, desktops, laptops, flat-panel TVs, LED lighting, etc. are required for more power delivery with smaller spaces. The LLC resonant converter has been widely adopted for these applications due to the advantages in high efficiency, high power density and holdup time operation capability.

However, unlike PWM converters, the control of the LLC resonant converter is much more difficult because of the fast dynamic characteristic of the resonant tank. In some highly dynamic processes like the load transient, start-up, over-load protection and burst operation, it is hard to control the current and voltage stresses and oscillations in the resonant tank. Moreover, to meet the high power density requirement, the LLC is required to operate at a high switching frequency. Thus the driving of the synchronous rectifier (SR) poses a design challenge as well.

To analyze the fast dynamic characteristic, a graphic state-plane technique has been adopted for a class of resonant converters. In this work, it has been extended to the LLC resonant converter. First of all, the LLC steady state and dynamic behaviors are analyzed in the state plane. After that, a simplified implementation of the optimal trajectory control is proposed to significantly improve the load transient response: the new steady state can be tracked in the minimal period of time.

With the advantages of the state-trajectory analysis and digital control, the LLC soft start-up is optimized as well. The current and voltage stress is limited in the resonant tank during the start-up process. The output voltage is built up quickly and smoothly.

Furthermore, the LLC burst mode is investigated and optimized in the state plane. Several optimal switching patterns are proposed to improve the light load efficiency and minimize the dynamic oscillations. During the burst on-time, the LLC can be controlled to track the steady state of the best efficiency load condition in one-pulse time. Thus, high light-load efficiency is accomplished.

Finally, an intelligent SR driving scheme is proposed and its simple digital implementation is introduced. By sensing the SR drain to source voltage and detecting the paralleled body diode conduction, the SR gate driving signal can be tuned within all operating frequency regions.

In conclusion, this work not only solves some major academic problems about analysis and control of the LLC resonant converter based on the graphic state plane, but also makes significant contributions to the industry by improving the LLC transient responses and overall efficiency.

To My Family:

My parents: Guoqiang Feng Yuzhen Fan My wife: Rongrong Mao

My daughter: Ke Feng

Acknowledgments

First I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my advisor, Dr. Fred C. Lee. It is him who guided me to the field of power electronics. I still remember the moment when he advised me to look at the state-trajectory analysis after the discussion on the dynamic oscillation. It is his depths of knowledge and experience that gave me great research opportunities. Besides his board knowledge, his rigorous research attitude and logical way of thinking have been a great value for me.

I am also grateful to Dr. Paolo Mattavelli, for his enthusiastic help during my research in CPES. His understanding, insightful suggestions and creative ideas influence me deeply for my research. I would like to thank Dr. Dushan Boroyevich for his valuable guidance during my research. I also want to acknowledge the other members of my advisory committee, Dr. Daniel J. Stilwell and Dr. Alfred L. Wicks for their support, comments, and suggestions.

It is a great pleasure to work with the talented colleagues in the Center for Power Electronics Systems (CPES). Without your help, this work cannot be accomplished. I would like to thank Dr. Qiang Li, Dr. Dianbo Fu, Dr. Pengju Kong, Dr. Ruxi Wang, Dr. David Reusch, Dr. Zhiyu Shen, Dr. Mingkai Mu, Dr. Yingyi Yan, Dr. Xinke Wu, Dr. Xiaoyong Ren, Dr. Brian Cheng, Mr. Daocheng Huang, Mr. Shu Ji, Mr. Chanwit Prasantanakorn, Mr. Zheng Chen, Mr. Qian Li, Mr. Zijian Wang, Mr. Feng Yu, Mr. Haoran Wu, Mr. Bo Wen, Mr. Yipeng Su, Mr. Jiang Li, Mr. Wei Zhang, Mr. Shuilin Tian, Mr. Xuning Zhang, Mr. Feng Wang, Mr. Pei-Hsin Liu, Mr. Xiucheng Huang, Mr. Zhengyang Liu, Mr. Yucheng Yang, Mr. Yang Jiao, Mr. Sizhao Lu, Mr. Zheming Zhang, Mr. Chao Fei, Mr. Xuebing Chen, Ms. Yincan Mao, Mr. Marko Jaksic, Ms. Han Cui, Mr. Lingxiao Xue, Mr. Ying Wang, Mr. Dongbin Hou, Mr. Zhongsheng Cao, Mr. Syed Bari. I cherish the wonderful time together and the great friendship.

I would also like to thank all the wonderful staffs in CPES: Ms. Teresa Shaw, Ms. Linda Gallagher, Ms. Marianne Hawthorne, Ms. Teresa Rose, Ms. Linda Long, Mr. Douglas Sterk, and Mr. David Gilham for their support and help over the past four years.

With much love and gratitude, I want to thank my parents: my mother Yuzhen Fan and my father Guoqiang Feng for their endless love, encouragement, and support throughout twenty years of school.

Finally and most importantly, I must thank my wife Rongrong Mao, whom I love deeply. Thank you for your support though the years. Thank you for being with me in Blacksburg even you have to give up the good job in China. Thank you for giving birth to our cute baby girl Ke Feng.

Special thanks go out to the CPES PMC mini-consortium members for the funding of my research: Chicony Power, Delta Electronics, Huawei Technologies, Infineon Technologies, Intersil Corporation, International Rectifier, Linear Technology, Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd., NEC TOKIN Corporation, NXP Semiconductors, Richtek Technology, Texas Instruments, ZTE Corporation and Simplis Technologies. I would also like to thank Panasonic Corporation for the funding on the project "multi-channel LED lighting".

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Background	1
1.2 Dissertation Motivation and Objective	7
1.2.1 State-trajectory analysis for LLC resonant converters	7
1.2.2 LLC transient response improvement	12
1.2.3 Light-load efficiency improvement	17
1.2.4 Inteligent synchrnous rectifier (SR) driving scheme	23
1.2.5 Resonant frequency tracking for unregulated LLC (LLC-DCX)	28
1.3 Dissertation Outline	
Chapter 2. State-Plane Analysis of LLC Resonant Converters	34
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 LLC Steady-State Trajectory in 2D State-Plane	
2.3 LLC Dynamic Trajectories in State-Plane	47
2.3.1 Load transient state trajectory	47
2.3.2 Start-up transient state trajectory	49
2.3.3 Burst mode dynamic state trajectory	52
2.4 Conclusion	

Chapter 3.D	ynamic	Improvement	I:	Simplified	Optimal	Trajectory
Control (SO	TC) for l	Load Transient	•••••	••••••	•••••	55
3.1 Introduc	tion		•••••			55
3.2 SOTC in	Load Step	p-up Transient	•••••			
3.3 SOTC in	Load Step	p-down Transient.	•••••			69
3.4 Experim	ental Resu	lts				74
3.5 Conclusi	on	•••••	•••••			79
Chapter 4. D	ynamic]	Improvement I	[: O]	ptimal Traje	ectory Con	trol for Soft
Start-Up and	d Over-L	oad Protection	•••••	••••••	•••••	80
4.1 Introduc	tion					80
4.2 Optimal	Switching	Patterns Settling	Initia	al Condition		85
4.3 Optimal	Trajectory	y Control during S	Soft S	Start-up		
4.4 Over-Los	ad Protect	ion with Optimal	Cont	rol		103
4.5 Experim	ental Resu	lts	•••••			106
4.6 Conclusi	on	••••••				110
Chapter 5.E	fficiency	Improvement]	[: O]	ptimal Burs	t Mode for	Light-Load
Efficiency	•••••	••••••	•••••	••••••	•••••	111
5.1 Introduc	tion					
5.2 Burst Mo	ode with O	ptimal Switching	Patte	e rn		116

5.2.1 Minimal optimal three-pulse switching pattern	116
5.2.2 First pulse partial ZVS	121
5.2.3 Constant burst on-time implementation	122
5.2.4 Experimental results	124
5.3 Optimal Switching Patterns for LED PWM Dimming	131
5.3.1 Introduction of PWM dimming for LLC LED driver	131
5.3.2 Dynamic oscillation with conventional PWM dimming	135
5.3.3 First-pulse tuning optimal PWM dimming	137
5.3.4 Last-pulse tuning optimal PWM dimming	143
5.3.5 Experimental results	148
5.4 Conclusion	153
Chapter 6. Efficiency Improvement II: Universal Adaptive SR	Driving
Scheme and Extended Resonant Frequency Tracking	155
6.1 Introduction	155
6.2 Universal Adaptive SR Driving Scheme	161
6.2.1 Auto-tuning principle by detecting SR body-diode conduction	161
6.2.2 SR transient performance investigation	164
6.2.3 Experimental results	168

6.3.1 Pulse width locked loop (PWLL) for resonant frequenc	y tracking 173
6.3.2 Experimental results	
6.4 Conclusion	
Chapter 7. Conclusion and Future Work	
7.1 Conclusion	
7.2 Future Work	186
References	

List of Figures

Fig. 1.1 Ac-dc front-end converter structure	2
Fig. 1.2 Efficiency requirement for ac-dc front-end converters	2
Fig. 1.3 Power density requirement for ac-dc front-end converters	3
Fig. 1.4 Holdup time operation of ac-dc front-end converters	4
Fig. 1.5 LLC resonant converter	5
Fig. 1.6 Voltage gain of LLC resonant converter	5
Fig. 1.7 Commercial controllers for the LLC resonant converters	6
Fig. 1.8 SRC topology and its equivalent circuit	8
Fig. 1.9 SRC state-trajectory	9
Fig. 1.10 Optimal trajectory control of SRC in load step-down and step-up	10
Fig. 1.11 Linear compensator control of SRC in load step-up	10
Fig. 1.12 3D state-space of LLC resonant converter	11
Fig. 1.13 Simplification of LLC-type series resonant converter to a series resonant converter	12
Fig. 1.14 Simplification of LCC-type parallel resonant converter to a series resonant converter	12
Fig. 1.15 Complicated implementation of OTC with nonlinear calculation of R	13
Fig. 1.16 Complicated implementation of OTC for LLC resonant converter	14
Fig. 1.17 Switching frequency arrangement during soft start-up	15
Fig. 1.18 LLC soft starts up with a low frequency	16
Fig. 1.19 LLC soft starts up with a high frequency	16
Fig. 1.20 Normal operation mode vs. burst mode	18
Fig. 1.21 Desired burst efficiency	19
Fig. 1.22 Dynamic oscillation during burst-on time	20
Fig. 1.23 MC ³ LLC resonant LED driver	21
Fig. 1.24 Low efficiency under low dimming ratio	22

Fig. 1.25 LED PWM dimming	
Fig. 1.26 LLC LED driver dynamic oscillation in PWM dimming	
Fig. 1.27 Desired SR gate driving signals in different switching frequency regions	
Fig. 1.28 Early turn-off effect of package inductance	
Fig. 1.29 The capacitive compensator network	
Fig. 1.30 Paralleled body diode conduction elimination for SR tuning	
Fig. 1.31 400 Vdc distributed power architecture based on the modularly designed DCX	
Fig. 1.32 Illustration of the best efficiency at the resonant frequency point	
Fig. 1.33 Phase difference between the resonant current and driving signal in LLC	
Fig. 2.1 Operation of LLC resonant converter	
Fig. 2.2 Simplification of 3D state-space to 2D state-plane trajectory	
Fig. 2.3 Operation modes and corresponding trajectories when Q ₁ is on	
Fig. 2.4 Operation modes and corresponding trajectories when Q ₂ is on	41
Fig. 2.5 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when $f_s=f_0$	
Fig 2.6 Steady-state trajectory when $f_s=f_0$	
Fig. 2.7 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when f _s <f<sub>0</f<sub>	
Fig. 2.8 Steady-state trajectory when $f_s < f_0$	
Fig. 2.9 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when $f_s > f_0$	
Fig. 2.10 Steady-state trajectory when f _s >f ₀	
Fig 2.11 LLC resonant converter with a linear compensator	
Fig. 2.12 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator with high bandwidth and small phase r	nargin48
Fig. 2.13 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator with low bandwidth and large phase m	argin49
Fig. 2.14 Equivalent circuits when LLC starts up	
Fig. 2.15 Initial trajectory when LLC starts up at $f_s=f_0$	
Fig. 2.16 Initial trajectory when LLC starts up at $f_s=5f_0$	51

Fig. 2.17 Oscillating resonant current during the burst on-time	
Fig. 2.18 Oscillating circles during the burst on-time	53
Fig. 3.1 LLC resonant converter with a linear compensator	56
Fig. 3.2 Complicated implementation of conventional OTC for LLC	57
Fig. 3.3 Switching instance capture with conventional OTC	
Fig. 3.4 SOTC control blocks for LLC resonant converter	59
Fig. 3.5 One-step SOTC during the load-step-up	60
Fig. 3.6 Two-step SOTC during the load-step-up	61
Fig. 3.7 Steady-state trajectory analysis when $f_s=f_0$	
Fig. 3.8 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator	65
Fig. 3.9 Load-step-up response of the SOTC	65
Fig. 3.10 Load-step-up response of the SOTC with 20% load sensing mismatch	66
Fig. 3.11 Load-step-up response of the SOTC when V_{in} is 10% smaller	67
Fig. 3.12 Muli-step SOTC for slowly changed load	
Fig. 3.13 Control flowchart of the SOTC	
Fig. 3.14 SOTC during the load-step-down	69
Fig. 3.15 Simplified analysis of SOTC during load step-down	71
Fig. 3.16 Load-step-down response of a linear compensator with high bandwidth a	and small phase margin
	73
Fig. 3.17 Load-step-down response of a linear compensator with low bandwidth a	and large phase margin
	73
Fig. 3.18 Load-step-down response of the SOTC	74
Fig. 3.19 Converter prototype	75
Fig. 3.20 Load step-up oscillation with a linear compensator	76
Fig. 3.21 Improved load step-up response with the SOTC	

Fig. 3.22 Detailed waveform of the SOTC at the load-step-up moment	77
Fig. 3.23 Load step-down response with a linear compensator	77
Fig. 3.24 Improved load step-down response with the SOTC	78
Fig. 3.25 Detailed waveform of the SOTC at the load-step-down moment	78
Fig. 4.1 DC characteristic of the LLC resonant converter	81
Fig. 4.2 Soft start-up with a low switching frequency	82
Fig. 4.3 Soft start-up with a high switching frequency	82
Fig. 4.4 Phase-shifted control in full-bridge LLC ($f_s=2f_0, \Phi=\pi/2$)	83
Fig. 4.5 State-trajectory of phase-shifted control ($f_s=2f_0, \Phi=\pi/2$)	84
Fig. 4.6 Soft start-up with phase-shifted control	85
Fig. 4.7 Waveform difference under steady-state and start-up	86
Fig. 4.8 Equivalent circuits when LLC starts up	87
Fig. 4.9 Initial trajectories within the symmetrical current limiting band	87
Fig. 4.10 Four operation modes when V_o increases	88
Fig. 4.11 Trajectory movement as V _o increases	89
Fig. 4.12 Simulated time-domain waveforms of initial condition settling within symmetrical band	89
Fig. 4.13 State-trajectory within the symmetrical band to settle initial condition	90
Fig. 4.14 Initial trajectories within the unsymmetrical current limiting band	90
Fig. 4.15 Simulated time-domain waveform and state trajectory with unsymmetrical band	91
Fig. 4.16 Calculation of the optimal switch pattern in the unsymmetrical band	91
Fig. 4.17 Initial condition settling with one-cycle approach	94
Fig. 4.18 Initial condition settling with slope-band approach	94
Fig. 4.19 Optimal switching frequency after settling the initial condition	95
Fig. 4.20 Optimal trajectory control at the start-up moment	96
Fig. 4.21 Optimal trajectory control in the current limitation band as V _o increases	97

Fig. 4.22 Time-domain waveform of optimal control as V_o increases	99
Fig. 4.23 Time domain waveform of reduced band as V_0 approaches to steady state	
Fig. 4.24 Optimal trajectory with reduced band as Vo approaches to steady state	
Fig. 4.25 Whole process of the optimal soft start-up	
Fig. 4.26 Equivalent circuit of full-bridge LLC at start-up moment	
Fig. 4.27 Initial state-trajectory with one-cycle control for full-bridge LLC	
Fig. 4.28 Simulation of one-cycle control for full-bridge LLC	103
Fig. 4.29 Shoot-though of LLC resonant converter	104
Fig. 4.30 State-trajectory of over-load protection with current limitation band	104
Fig. 4.31 Simulated time-domain response of shoot-through protection	105
Fig. 4.32 State-trajectory of shoot-through protection	105
Fig. 4.33 Large voltage and current stresses at the start-up moment	106
Fig. 4.34 Initial soft start-up process with a commercial controller	107
Fig. 4.35 Soft start-up experimental trajectory with a commercial controller	107
Fig. 4.36 Initial condition settling with unsymmetrical current band	
Fig. 4.37 Proposed optimal soft start-up	109
Fig. 4.38 Experimental trajectory of the optimal soft start-up	109
Fig. 5.1 Normal operation mode vs. burst mode	112
Fig. 5.2 Desired burst efficiency	113
Fig. 5.3 Oscillated resonant current during the burst on-time	114
Fig. 5.4 Oscillated circles during the burst on-time	115
Fig. 5.5 Optimal three-pulse switching pattern during the minimal burst on-time	116
Fig. 5.6 Simulated minimal burst-on time with optimal pulse pattern	117
Fig. 5.7 State plane trajectory of the optimal burst pattern	118
Fig. 5.8 Real-time tuning of the first pulse width by sensing v _{Cr}	

Fig. 5.9 Constant burst on-time implementation when the load changes	121
Fig. 5.10 ZCD implementation for the first switch partial ZVS	122
Fig. 5.11 Partial ZVS realization	122
Fig 5.12 Simple control blocks of the optimal burst mode	123
Fig. 5.13 Constant burst on-time implementation based on the output voltage ripple	123
Fig. 5.14 Hardware prototype	124
Fig. 5.15 Steady state waveform of the highest efficiency load (i _{OPT} =14A)	125
Fig. 5.16 Shrinking current within large burst on-time	126
Fig. 5.17 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 2A	127
Fig. 5.18 Comparison between with and without 1 st pulse width optimization	128
Fig. 5.19 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 4A	128
Fig. 5.20 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 1A	129
Fig. 5.21 Partial ZVS of the first switching action	130
Fig. 5.22 Efficiency improvement with the proposed burst mode control	131
Fig. 5.23 Single stage MC ³ LLC resonant LED driver	132
Fig. 5.24 DC characteristics with f _s controlled analog dimming	133
Fig. 5.25 Efficiency of f _s controlled analog dimming	133
Fig. 5.26 MC ³ LLC resonant LED driver with PWM dimming control	134
Fig. 5.27 LED PWM dimming	135
Fig. 5.28 Dynamic oscillation when MC ³ LLC starts to work	136
Fig. 5.29 State-trajectory of the dynamic oscillation	137
Fig. 5.30 Time-domain waveforms of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern	138
Fig. 5.31 State-trajectory of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern	139
Fig. 5.32 Transformation from ellipse trajectory of Mode III to a circle	141
Fig. 5.33 Q ₁ first-pulse width is 20% larger than the desired one	142

Fig. 5.34 Q_1 first-pulse width is 20% smaller than the desired one	
Fig. 5.35 Time-domain waveforms of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern	
Fig. 5.36 State-trajectory of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern	144
Fig. 5.37 Q ₁ last-pulse width is 20% larger than the desired one	147
Fig. 5.38 Q_1 last-pulse width is 20% smaller than the desired one	147
Fig. 5.39 MC ³ LLC resonant LED driver prototype	148
Fig. 5.40 Experiment without optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)	149
Fig. 5.41 Experiment of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)	
Fig. 5.42 Experiment of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)	
Fig. 5.43 First-pulse and last-pulse tuning optimal switching pattern under 1% dimming	151
Fig. 5.44 Experimental trajectory comparison	151
Fig. 5.45 Experiment with optimal switching patterns (50% dimming)	
Fig. 5.46 Efficiency comparison with f _s controlled analogy dimming	153
Fig. 6.1 Desired SR gate driving signals in different switching frequency regions	156
Fig. 6.2 Secondary side current sensing for SR driving	
Fig. 6.3 Primary side current sensing for SR driving	
Fig. 6.4 Drain-to-source voltage V _{dsSR} sensing for SR driving	159
Fig. 6.5 Package inductance influence on SR driving	159
Fig. 6.6 The capacitive compensator network	
Fig. 6.7 Paralleled body diode conduction elimination for SR tuning	
Fig. 6.8 Control blocks of the proposed universal adaptive SR driving scheme	
Fig. 6.9 SR turn-off tuning process by eliminating the body diode conduction	
Fig. 6.10 The SR turn-off tuning process when $f_s > f_0$	164
Fig. 6.11 Transient process as f _s decreases	
Fig. 6.12 Transient process as f _s increases	166

Fig. 6.13 SR pulse width limitation to avoid shoot-through when f_s increases	167
Fig. 6.14 Control flowchart of the proposed SR tuning process	167
Fig. 6.15 Hardware implementation photograph	168
Fig. 6.16 Waveforms before SR tuning	169
Fig. 6.17 Waveforms after SR tuning	170
Fig. 6.18 SR duty cycle loss when using the commercial SR driving controllers	171
Fig. 6.19 Improved performance when using the proposed SR driving scheme	171
Fig. 6.20 Efficiency comparison with the commercial SR controllers	172
Fig. 6.21 Protection to avoid shoot-through when fs increases quickly	173
Fig. 6.22 Pulse width of the SR driving signal is smaller than the main switch when $f_s < f_0$	174
Fig. 6.23 Pulse width the SR driving signal is larger than the main switch when $f_s > f_0$	175
Fig. 6.24 Pulse width of the SR driving signal is the same as the main switch when $f_s=f_0$	175
Fig. 6.25 Control block of f ₀ tracking based on the SR gate-driving signal	176
Fig. 6.26 F_0 tracking process (from $f_s < f_0$ to $f_s = f_0$)	177
Fig. 6.27 F_0 tracking process (from $f_s > f_0$ to $f_s = f_0$)	177
Fig. 6.28 Control flowchart of PWLL to track f ₀	178
Fig. 6.29 Stable uni-direction tuning process of PWLL	178
Fig. 6.30 Pulse width of SR driving signal is smaller than main switch when $f_s < f_0$	179
Fig. 6.31 Pulse width of SR driving signal is larger than main switch when $f_s > f_0$	
Fig. 6.32 Tracking $f_s=f_0$ by minimizing the pulse width difference between the main switch and	the well-
tuned SR gate-driving signals	
Fig. 6.33 F ₀ is tracked well under different load conditions	
Fig. 6.34 F ₀ tracking during load transients	
Fig. 6.35 Efficiency improvement with PWLL resonant frequency tracking	

List of Tables

Table 1.1 SRC equivalent voltages under different conduction status	8
Table 3.1 The parameters of LLC resonant converter	74
Table 5.1 The parameters of LLC resonant prototype	
Table 5.2 The parameters of MC ³ LLC resonant converter	149

Chapter 1. Introduction

This chapter presents the motivations and objectives of this work. The advantages of LLC resonant converters and its wide applications are investigated. The challenges in controlling the fast dynamic response of the resonant tank and limiting the circulating energy are described. A literature review in this field is provided, followed by the dissertation outline and the scope of research.

1.1 Background

With the explosive development of information technology, the communication and computing systems, such as telecoms, servers, desktops, laptops and notebooks have become a large market for the power supply industry. For the advance of the integrated circuit technology, the density and functionality of computer systems are continually increasing, which requires more power delivery while smaller size on power suppliers [A.1-A.15]. For consumer electronics, such as flat-panel TVs and LED lighting, high reliability, low cost and high efficiency power supplies are demanded [A.16-A.19].

Ac-dc front-end converters as shown in Fig. 1.1 are widely adopted by these applications. Driven strongly by economic and environmental concerns, high efficiency is becoming more and more desired for ac-dc front-end converters. The 80 PLUS programs provide a class of efficiency requirements as shown in Fig. 1.2 [A.13]. Take the 80 PLUS TITANIUM program as an example, it provides the highest efficiency requirement for the front-end converters nowadays. The certified power supplies are expected to achieve 91% efficiency at 100% load, 96% efficiency at 50% load, 94% efficiency at 20% load, and 90% efficiency at 10% load when converting 230V ac power from electric utilities to dc power used in most electronics. The efficiency requirement at the dc-dc stage is even higher to meet the overall efficiency from ac input to the load.

In addition to the efficiency requirement, the power density of front-end converters is continuously increasing as well [A.6]. Higher power density will eventually reduce the converter cost and allow for accommodating more equipment in the existing infrastructures. As shown in Fig. 1.3, in the past ten years, the power density of front-end commercial converters has increased by seven times. This will continuously increase in the future because of the fast developments in new devices, magnetic materials and so on [A.20-A.23].



Fig. 1.1 Ac-dc front-end converter structure



Fig. 1.2 Efficiency requirement for ac-dc front-end converters



Fig. 1.3 Power density requirement for ac-dc front-end converters

Moreover, the holdup time operation poses another major design challenge. As shown in Fig. 1.4, the front-end ac-dc converters are required to maintain the regulated output voltage for about 20ms when the input ac line is lost [A.24]. As shown in Fig. 1.1, during the holdup time, all the energy transported to the load comes from the holdup capacitor C_{hold} . The requirement of C_{hold} is determined by the system power level and the input voltage range of the dc-dc converter. Apparently, the wider the dc-dc stage input voltage range is, the fewer bulky holdup time capacitors are required, and the higher power density will be. Therefore, to meet the holdup time operation requirement, the capability of operating within a wide input voltage range is required for the dc-dc stage in front-end converters.



Fig. 1.4 Holdup time operation of ac-dc front-end converters

Hard-switching PWM converters [A.25] cannot meet higher efficiency and high-powerdensity requirements at the same time, since hard switching leads to high switching loss for high frequency operation.

Soft-switching PWM circuits, such as the phase-shift full-bridge PWM converter and the asymmetrical half-bridge PWM converter, are widely used for the front-end dc-dc conversion [A.26-A.28]. The bulky capacitors are used to provide energy during the holdup time. Enlarging the operation range of the dc-dc stage can reduce the holdup capacitors. However, the PWM converters have to sacrifice normal operation efficiency to extend their operation range. Normally, the duty cycle is designed to be as high as possible to handle the holdup time operation, so when it comes to normal conditions, the duty cycle is much smaller. The primary side to secondary side transformer turns ratio is small, which leads to a high primary side current.

Both conduction loss and switching loss increase. Consequently, the efficiency suffers at normal operation conditions.

Resonant converters can achieve very a low switching loss, thus enabling them to operate at high switching frequencies in order to keep power density high while maintaining good efficiency [A.29-A.31]. Recently, the LLC resonant converter (LLC) as shown in Fig. 1.5 has received a lot of attention [A.5] [A.7] [A.8] [A.11] [A.32-A.37].



Fig. 1.5 LLC resonant converter

The voltage gain of the LLC resonant converter is shown in Fig. 1.6.



Fig. 1.6 Voltage gain of LLC resonant converter

Under nominal conditions, the LLC operates near the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$) to achieve high efficiency, because of zero-voltage-switching (ZVS) for the main switches and zero-current-switching (ZCS) for the output rectifiers. In addition, voltage gains of different Q converge at this point. Thus, the LLC resonant tank can be optimized to achieve good efficiency for a wide load range. By reducing the LLC switching frequency, high voltage gain is achievable, which is desired for the holdup time operation. Thus, the holdup time extension capability is accomplished without sacrificing the efficiency under the nominal operating condition. Therefore, the LLC resonant converter has been a very popular topology for the frontend power supplies in computing systems and consumer electronics systems.

In today's market, many commercial controllers (as shown in Fig. 1.7) have been released [A.38-A.44]. Like other resonant topologies, the switching frequency is controlled to regulate the LLC output voltage or output current. These controllers also provide some supplementary functions, such as over current protection, over voltage protection, under voltage lockout, burst mode, soft start-up, etc.



Fig. 1.7 Commercial controllers for the LLC resonant converters

However, the control of the LLC resonant converter is much more complex than that of PWM converters due to the fast dynamic characteristics of the resonant tank. The natural frequency of the output filter for PWM converters is much lower than the switching frequency. When it comes to the LLC resonant converter, the natural frequency of the resonant tank is close to the switching frequency. Therefore, it is difficult to describe and control the resonant tank dynamic behavior. In order to get a good dynamic performance and limit the resonant circulating energy, there are many issues related to the control of the LLC resonant converter.

1.2 Dissertation Motivation and Objective

1.2.1 State-trajectory analysis for LLC resonant converters

For PWM converters, the state-space average method can provide a simple and accurate small-signal model to analyze the dynamic behavior [B.1] [B.2]. For resonant converters, the natural frequency of the resonant tank is close to the switching frequency. Since the average modeling method will eliminate the information of the switching frequency, it cannot predict the dynamic performance of the resonant tank. Therefore, some other approaches such as an extended describing function [B.3] [B.4], a multi-frequency averaging method [B.5], and a simulation-based method [A.5] [B.6] are required. But all of them require extensive computation effort. Moreover, due to the limitations of the small-signal model, these methods are only valid around a particular operation point. Thus, they cannot ensure high performance under large load variations. In addition, to the soft start-up and over-load protection, the switching frequency varies in a wide range, thus the tank behavior cannot be explained by the small-signal model as well.

Compared with the complicated modeling derivation and the limited performance of the small-signal models, the graphical state-trajectory analysis is much clear and useful to analyze the resonant converters [B.7-B.19].

Take the series resonant converters (SRC) as an example, the state-trajectory analysis has been present to describe its steady state and transient behaviors [B.7] [B.8]. The resonant capacitor C_r and the resonant inductor L_r are in series as shown in Fig. 1.8. The equivalent voltage V_E across the resonant tank changes under different conduction stages as illustrated in Table 1.1. By normalizing the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} with the voltage factor V_s , and resonant current i_{Lr} with the current factor V_s/Z_0 (i.e. Z_0 is the characteristic impedance $Z_0 = \sqrt{\frac{L_r}{C_r}}$), the state-trajectory is shown in Fig. 1.9, where N refers to the normalized

variables.



Fig. 1.8 SRC topology and its equivalent circuit

Conduction	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{E}}$	$\mathbf{V}_{\mathbf{EN}}$
Q_1	V_s - V_o	$1-V_{oN}$
D_1	$V_s + V_o$	$1+V_{oN}$
Q ₂	$-V_s+V_o$	$-1+V_{oN}$
D_2	$-V_s-V_o$	$-1-V_{oN}$

Table 1.1 SRC equivalent voltages under different conduction status

In the state-plane, the normalized voltages across the resonant tank V_{EN} determine the trajectory centers, and the radiuses reflect the energy in the resonant tank. For the control law,

the variable R is continuously monitored, the power switches are turned on at the instant when R becomes equal to the control reference R_{ref} .



Fig. 1.9 SRC state-trajectory

During the load step-down transient, the control reference will change from the heavy-load large radius (R_{ref_H}) to the light-load small radius (R_{ref_L}) as shown in Fig. 1.10. Thus, the operation status will stay in D₂ trajectory until it hits the new control law of R_{ref_L} . As the load steps up, the control reference will change from R_{ref_L} to R_{ref_H} at the transient moment. The operation status in D₂ trajectory is interrupted, and it follows Q₁ trajectory as it touches the circle with the new control reference R_{ref_H} .

By forcing the state variables to track the desired trajectory, this approach is named optimal trajectory control (OTC). It guarantees that the time required to reach the new steady state is

minimal and the overshoot is avoided. Compared with linear control methods based on the smallsignal model as shown in Fig. 1.11, it shows a much better dynamic performance.



Fig. 1.10 Optimal trajectory control of SRC in load step-down and step-up



Fig. 1.11 Linear compensator control of SRC in load step-up

However, when it comes to multi-element resonant converters, there are more than two state variables that need to be represented. In [B.19], the three-dimensional (3D) state-space trajectory

of the series-parallel resonant converter (SPRC) is illustrated. For the LLC resonant converter, a 3D state-space trajectory is shown in Fig. 1.12 to represent all the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} , resonant inductor current i_{Lr} , and magnetizing inductor current i_{Lm} . However, from the visual point of view, it is much more difficult to understand the trajectory loci in the 3D state-space than in the 2D state-plane. Moreover, it is complicated to get the trajectory's mathematic expression in the state-space.



Fig. 1.12 3D state-space of LLC resonant converter

Therefore, it is better to illustrate all state variables of multi-element resonant converters in a 2D state-plane. Fig. 1.13 shows a LLC-type series resonant converter. When it works at a certain frequency point, the 3-element resonant tank can be simplified to a series resonant tank with an equivalent resonant inductor L_{eq} . Thus, the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cp} and the resonant current through the equivalent inductor i_{Leq} can be represented in a 2D state-plane [B.12].



Fig. 1.13 Simplification of LLC-type series resonant converter to a series resonant converter

Similarly, a LCC-type parallel resonant converter can be simplified as well at a certain frequency point as shown in Fig. 1.14 [B.13].



Fig. 1.14 Simplification of LCC-type parallel resonant converter to a series resonant converter

However, to analyze the LLC steady-state, load transient response, soft start-up, over-load protection, etc., the dynamic behavior of the LLC resonant tank should be investigated under all operation frequency regions, which cannot be simplified into a series resonant converter with an equivalent resonant inductor and a resonant capacitor. It is a challenge to find an approach to represent all state variables (i.e. v_{Cr} , i_{Lr} and i_{Lm}) clearly on a 2D state-plane under all operation conditions.

1.2.2 LLC transient response improvement

The optimal trajectory control (OTC) shows the best dynamic performance for the SRC under load transients. However, the realization of OTC is difficult to implement [B.8] [B.10]. As shown in Fig. 1.15, the centers of Q_1 and Q_2 conduction trajectory loci need to be determined by sensing the input voltage v_s and the output voltage v_o using analog-to-digital conversions (AD). The control variable R also needs to be calculated at every instantaneous value of the resonant current i_{Lr} , the resonant voltage v_{Cr} . Q_1 and Q_2 are turned on at the instants when R becomes equal to the reference R_{ref} . Since the on-line computation of variable R is nonlinear and complicated, it is hard to be implemented.



Fig. 1.15 Complicated implementation of OTC with nonlinear calculation of R

In order to reduce the control complexity, some simplified methods have been proposed for SRC. In [B.14] [B.16], the pseudo-linear form of the control variable R is introduced. In addition, some other linear combinations of the state variables to determine switching instants are proposed in [B.18].

When it comes to the multi-element resonant converters, such as the series-parallel resonant converter in [B.19], more state variables need to be sensed and a more complicated calculation is required., For the LLC resonant converter shown in Fig. 1.16, not only do the input voltage v_{in} , the output voltage v_o , the resonant current i_{Lr} and the resonant voltage v_{Cr} need to be sensed to determine the switching instants, but the magnetizing current i_{Lm} also needs to be sensed. Moreover, there are more operation modes in the LLC resonant converter, which increases the implementation complexity of the OTC.



Fig. 1.16 Complicated implementation of OTC for LLC resonant converter

Therefore, a simplified realization of optimal trajectory control is needed. It is a challenge to find an implementation which can reduce the state variable sensors and eliminate the complicated nonlinear calculation while having a similar dynamic performance.

Besides the load transient, the LLC soft start-up is a highly dynamic process. The switching frequency has a wide range of variation during the soft start-up process. Initially, the switching frequency is pushed to a high value ($f_s > f_0$), to reduce the voltage and current stress in the

resonant tank. Then f_s decreases step by step, gradually moving to the resonant frequency point $(f_s=f_0)$ to build up the output voltage.

The switching frequency f_s can be controlled to decrease linearly, piecewise-linearly or nonlinearly as shown in Fig. 1.17 [A.38-A.44]. Since the output voltage has been built up close to the steady state, the closed loop control signal f_{FB} will take over.



Fig. 1.17 Switching frequency arrangement during soft start-up

If the start-up frequency (f_{max}) is not high enough, there will be large voltage and current stress in the resonant tank at the start-up moment. Fig. 1.18 shows the experimental test of [A.38] [A.39], where the voltage and current stress is large in the resonant tank if starting-up with 1.5f₀.

If the LLC starts up with a higher frequency ($f_{max}=5f_0$ as shown in Fig. 1.19) [A.40], at the beginning, the voltage and current stress is small. However, since the switching frequency (f_s) decreases too quick, large voltage and current stresses can still happen in the middle of the startup process, which will trigger the over-current-protection (OCP). As a result, f_s will increase a bit to limit the stress, and then decreases smoothly to finish the soft start process. If f_s decreases slowly from $5f_0$, the stress will stay small, but the output voltage will build up slowly, which means the soft start-up process will take much longer.



Fig. 1.18 LLC soft starts up with a low frequency



Fig. 1.19 LLC soft starts up with a high frequency

To limit the current and voltage stress while keeping switching frequency low, some phaseshifted controls [A.26] [A.27] and a PWM duty-cycle control [A.28] have been proposed for the LLC resonant converters. However, compared with frequency control, the LLC will lose zerovoltage-switching (ZVS) in the soft start-up duration. Therefore, the dynamic behavior of the LLC soft start-up needs to be investigated. An optimal soft start-up process is required. Voltage and current stress should be limited during the soft start-up. Meanwhile, the output voltage should be built up smoothly and fast.

1.2.3 Light-load efficiency improvement

With the explosive increase in consumer electronics and IT equipment, the efficiency requirement of power converters is becoming higher and higher. Moreover, the efficiency demand is not only focused on the heavy load but also on the light load [A.13-A.15].

The LLC resonant converter can achieve very high efficiency under normal load conditions, because of ZVS for primary-side switches and ZCS for secondary-side rectifiers. However, the light-load efficiency still cannot meet the increasingly strict requirements, since certain loadindependent losses such as driving losses and magnetic component core losses possess a much higher ratio under the light load condition.

Variable frequency control methods have been widely used to improve the light load efficiency in PWM converters, e.g. PWM/PFM control [C.1] [C.2], constant and adaptive ontime control [C.3], and burst mode control [C.4] [C.5]. The idea is to decrease the switching frequency or equivalent switching frequency, to reduce these load independent losses. To the LLC resonant converter, the burst mode control has been used to improve the light load efficiency, by periodically blocking the switch gate driving signals V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} as shown in Fig. 1.20.


Fig. 1.20 Normal operation mode vs. burst mode

In the hysteresis burst mode [A.38-A.44] [C.5], the switches are periodically on and off, determined by the comparison between the feedback control command (f_{FB}) and the hysteresis band. When the load decreases, f_{FB} increases, that is, the LLC switching frequency (f_s) increases to regulate the output voltage. Until f_{FB} hits the hysteresis band ceiling, the LLC enters the burst mode, and the switches stop working. Then f_{FB} will decrease correspondingly. When it hits the band bottom, the switches start to work again. Although the implementation is simple, using f_{FB} to determine the light load condition is not accurate. Since it is influenced by the input voltage V_{in} and resonant tank parameters such as resonant inductor L_r , magnetizing inductor L_m , and resonant capacitor C_r . With different V_{in} and tank parameters, the light load conditions triggering the burst mode are different. Moreover, the design of the hysteresis band is critical. Large band induces a large output voltage ripple, and small band leads to low burst efficiency.

[C.6] [C.7] proposed the burst mode for the best light-load efficiency. Fig. 1.21 shows a typical efficiency curve of a LLC resonant converter. The best efficiency is achieved at I_{OPT} load point. When it comes to the light load I_{light} , if the burst duty D_{burst} is determined as

$$D_{burst} = \frac{T_{on}}{T_{burst}} = \frac{I_{light}}{I_{OPT}},$$
(1.1)

where T_{on} is the burst on-time, T_{burst} the burst period as shown in Fig. 1.20, the LLC will treat the equivalent load as I_{OPT} during the burst on-time. Thus, the best efficiency can be achieved under the light load conditions.



Fig. 1.21 Desired burst efficiency

However, as shown in Fig. 1.22, due to the fast dynamic characteristic of the resonant tank, there is a serious oscillation when LLC starts to work from the burst-off idle status. The LLC equivalently works from heavy load I_{eq1} to light load I_{eq5} , and the steady state of the optimal load I_{OPT} cannot be fixed. Consequently, the burst efficiency is the average efficiency from the load I_{eq1} to I_{eq5} , which is $\Delta\eta$ less than the desired value.



Fig. 1.22 Dynamic oscillation during burst-on time

Moreover, if the burst period T_{burst} stays constant, when the light load becomes heavy, T_{on} will increase according to (1.1), resulting in a large output voltage ripple. Therefore, an additional low-pass filter needs to be added on the output side. In another burst control method [C.8], the burst on-time stays constant, but the off-time is modulated according to different light loads, so the output voltage ripple stays the same. However, without considering (1.1), it cannot treat equivalent load as I_{OPT} to maintain good efficiency.

Therefore, to achieve good light-load efficiency, the challenge is how to design the burst mode to make the LLC always operate at the best efficiency load point. Meanwhile, the output voltage low frequency ripple should be minimized.

Besides a voltage-source power supply, the LLC resonant converter can well serve as constant current source. Fig. 1.23 shows a multi-channel constant current (MC³) LLC resonant converter for LED driver [A.19]. The multiple transformer structure (primary windings are in series and secondary windings are in parallel) enables the cross regulation by only controlling

one LED channel. The voltage-doubler configuration allows each transformer to driver two LED strings at the same time and hence reduces the number of transformers by half. The DC block capacitor (C_{dc}) is used for the purpose of precise current sharing between two neighboring LED channels.

Like the conventional voltage source LLC resonant converter, the switching frequency (f_s) is controlled to achieve different dimming ratios [A.19]. Normally, under the full-load condition, the MC³ LLC resonant converter is designed to operate near the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$) to achieve the best efficiency. When the switching frequency f_s increases, the LED dimming ratio becomes low, that is, it comes to the light load condition. However, as shown in Fig. 1.24, the current gain becomes flat as f_s increases. Even when pushing f_s to as high as 5 f_0 , only 18% full load dimming is achieved. Meanwhile, the efficiency drops quickly as the dimming ratio decreases, since the switching losses and driving losses increases dramatically.



Fig. 1.23 MC³ LLC resonant LED driver



Fig. 1.24 Low efficiency under low dimming ratio

Compared with the switching frequency controlled analog dimming, the PWM dimming approach can achieve much a lower dimming ratio by minimizing the PWM duty cycle D_{PWM} , as shown in Fig. 1.25. Moreover, the LLC can always operate under the full-load condition during the PWM dimming on-time, thus the efficiency stays higher even if the dimming ratio becomes very low. In addition, there is no chromaticity shift when using the PWM dimming [D.5].



Fig. 1.25 LED PWM dimming

However, as is similar to the burst mode shown in Fig. 1.22, due to the fast dynamic characteristics of the LLC resonant tank, there will be oscillations as the MC^3 LLC LED driver switches between the working status and the idle status. As shown in Fig. 1.26, the oscillation of the resonant current i_{Lr} will increase the RMS value, which produces additional conduction losses. Moreover, the oscillation on the output current will reduce the control accuracy of the LED intensity.



Fig. 1.26 LLC LED driver dynamic oscillation in PWM dimming

In order to maintain the high efficiency and control the LED lighting intensity accurately within the whole dimming range, the burst pulse pattern during the PWM dimming on-time needs to be optimized to minimize the dynamic oscillation.

1.2.4 Inteligent synchrnous rectifier (SR) driving scheme

To improve the LLC resonant converter overall efficiency, the synchronous rectifiers (SR) should be employed. The desired SR gate driving signals for the LLC resonant converter are

shown in Fig. 1.27. In different switching frequency regions, when the primary main switches Q_1 and Q_2 are turned on, the secondary side current i_{SEC} starts to go through the SRs, thus the SRs should be turned on synchronously with the main switches. However, the turn-off times of the SRs and the main switches are not exactly in phase. When operating below the resonant frequency (i.e. $f_s < f_0$), the SR should be turned off earlier than the main switch. Otherwise, the SR would conduct circulating energy, namely a reverse current from the load to the source, thus producing a greater increase in the RMS currents and turn-off current, and causing efficiency to deteriorate dramatically. When operating above the resonant frequency ($f_s > f_0$), the SR should be turned off a bit later than the main switch. Otherwise, the sharply decreased current would go through the paralleled body diode, resulting in a serious reverse recovery.



Fig. 1.27 Desired SR gate driving signals in different switching frequency regions

Therefore, the gate driving signals of SRs and main switches cannot derive from the same signal for controlling the conduction times as those in the PWM converters, so a special driving arrangement for the SR is required for the LLC resonant converters [E.1]-[E.8].

One solution [E.1] is based on the SR current i_{SR} sensing by transformers to generate the SR driving signal. The method is precise, but due to the large current on the secondary side, it requires a large size current transformer and it presents a lower efficiency due to the extra resistance of the transformer windings.

An alternative solution [E.2] is sensing current through the transformer's primary side winding. Provided that the inductance L_r and L_m are external to the main transformer, the primary side current is a precise replica of the secondary side current. Although a smaller loss could be achieved when compared to the secondary side current sensing, three magnetic components are needed, losing the integration of leakage, magnetizing inductors and transformer in a single element.

In [E.3], the author proposed a novel primary side resonant current i_{Lr} sensing method to determine the SR gate driving signals. However, it needs to decouple the magnetizing current i_{Lm} , and thus an additional complicated circuit is added.

A promising driving method is based on the SR drain to source voltage. The sensed SR V_{ds} is processed by the control circuits as follows [E.4]:

 before the SR is turned on, the paralleled body diode conducts shortly and there is a large forward voltage drop, which is compared with a threshold voltage V_{th_on} to turn on the SR; • when the SR current is decreasing toward zero, the SR V_{ds} also becomes small, which is then compared with another threshold voltage V_{th_off} to turn off the SR.

However, the accuracy of this driving scheme is highly affected by the SR package [E.5] [E.6]. Due to the inevitable package inductance, the sensed terminal drain to source voltage of the SR is actually the sum of the MOSFET's on status resistive voltage drop and the package inductive voltage drop. Fig. 1.28 shows that the sensed $V_{d's'}$ of the SR terminal deviates greatly from the purely resistive voltage drop V_{ds} of the MOSFET. Thus, the actual SR drive signal V_{gsSR} is significantly shorter than the expected value.



Fig. 1.28 Early turn-off effect of package inductance

To compensate for the inductive characteristic of the sensed $V_{d's'}$, a carefully designed capacitive network can be connected to the sensed terminals [E.6], as shown in Fig. 1.29.



Fig. 1.29 The capacitive compensator network

However, the package inductance L_{SR} and the pure resistor R_{ds_on} need to be determined in advance to calculate the parameters of the components: C_{CS} and R_{CS} in the capacitive network. Although the inductive phase lead influence is diminished, the design and the parameter tuning are complicated.

Different from the above mentioned V_{ds} sensing, in [E.7],[E.8] the SR body diode forward voltage drop is detected to tune the gate driving signal. As shown in Fig. 1.30, V_{gsQ} is the primary main switch driving signal, and it synchronizes the sawtooth waveform V_{saw} , which is then compared with a control signal V_c to generate the SR driving signal V_{gsSR} . If the body diode conducts, the large forward voltage drop is sensed by the valley detection circuit; then V_c increases, and V_{gsSR} pulse width increases accordingly. Finally, the SR is tuned until the circuit cannot detect the body diode conduction. However, the maximum pulse width of the SR driving signal cannot be larger than that of the main switch, and thus it cannot be used when $f_s > f_0$. As shown in Fig. 1.27, the SR pulse width should be tuned slightly larger than the main switch when $f_s > f_0$. Moreover, the design process of the analog compensator to generate V_c is complicated.



Fig. 1.30 Paralleled body diode conduction elimination for SR tuning

Therefore, an intelligent SR driving scheme is required, which can control the SR gate driving signal in the whole switching frequency regions with simple implementation.

1.2.5 Resonant frequency tracking for unregulated LLC (LLC-DCX)

In the typical distributed power architecture, the power delivery path from the input to the load subsystems is generally equipped with a front-end converter and multiple point-of-load converters (POLs). Previously, the front-end converter has been a fully-regulated multiple-output power supply for providing the power to the system board, the hard drives and the cooling fans. However, the system board employs many POLs to locally regulate the load subsystem voltages. Thus, the front-end converter is no longer involved in the voltage regulation of the load. From this configuration, we can see that the front-end power supply does not need to be a fully regulated power supply. The traditional front-end converter could be replaced by a dc-dc

transformer (DCX); that is, a semi-regulated or unregulated single-output dc-dc converter. POLs on the system board generally accept the input of $12V \pm 10\%$. Being a single-output design with a standard voltage of 12V, the DCX can be made as a standard product. In addition, the modular design concept allows for system expansion without entirely re-designing the unit.

The ever-present trend for distributed power systems is the pursuit of higher efficiency and power density. Recently, Intel proposed a 400 Vdc direct-distribution bus for data center applications in order to reduce the number of power conversion stages and the power loss in the power distribution path [A.1] [A.2] [A.9] [A.10] [A.12]. By eliminating an AC uninterruptible power supply (UPS) and a transformer in the power distribution unit (PDU), the overall efficiency can be improved by 3-5%. With the emerging 400 Vdc bus and the proposed front-end unit based on DCX, the alternative power architecture can be depicted using Fig. 1.31.



Fig. 1.31 400 Vdc distributed power architecture based on the modularly designed DCX

Serving as a DCX, the LLC has no feedback loop to maintain the output voltage. Thus, it is better to fix f_s exactly at the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$) to achieve the best efficiency [A.33] [A.37] [F.1-F.4]. As shown in Fig. 1.32, with the same output power, if the LLC-DCX works below the resonant frequency ($f_s < f_0$), there is more circulating energy in the resonant tank. As a result, the switches will conduct more RMS current, producing more conduction losses. If the LLC-DCX works above the resonant frequency ($f_s > f_0$), the main switches will turn off with a higher current, resulting in more switching losses. More seriously, sharply decreased secondary-side current will cause some reverse-recovery in the SR paralleled body diode, further reducing the efficiency. Therefore, the LLC-DCX should work at point f_0 ($f_s=f_0$) to achieve the best efficiency.



Fig. 1.32 Illustration of the best efficiency at the resonant frequency point

In the ideal condition, the LLC resonant frequency f_0 can be calculated as

$$f_0 = \frac{1}{2\pi\sqrt{L_r C_r}},\tag{1.2}$$

where L_r and C_r are the resonant inductor and resonant capacitor, respectively.

However, in practical mass production, L_r and C_r always have some tolerances and aging effect. As a result, it is impossible to operate exactly at point f_0 all the time with the calculated value in (1.2). Therefore, the resonant frequency f_0 needs to track automatically.

Phase-locked loops (PLLs) have been widely used in parallel resonant converters (PRC) and serial resonant converters (SRC) for resonant frequency tracking [F.5],[F.6]. The resonant frequency is tracked by tuning the switching frequency to eliminate the phase difference between the resonant current and the main switch gate driving signals. However, as shown in Fig. 1.33, in the LLC resonant converter, due to the magnetizing current i_{Lm} , when working at the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$), the resonant current i_{Lr} is not in phase with V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} ($\Delta\Phi$ is the difference). Thus, the PLL method cannot be used to track the LLC resonant frequency.



Fig. 1.33 Phase difference between the resonant current and driving signal in LLC

As show in Fig. 1.32, if $f_s=f_0$, and at the moment Q_1 and Q_2 are turned off, the resonant current i_{Lr} touches the magnetizing current i_{Lm} . Thus, these touching points can be sensed to turn

off Q_1 and Q_2 . But i_{Lm} cannot be physically detected, since the magnetizing inductor L_m is always integrated with the transformer. Consequently, some other complicated circuits are proposed to predict i_{Lm} in [F.3], [F.4]. However, L_m will have a certain tolerance, as will L_r and C_r , thus the prediction of the touching point is not accurate.

Although the resonant current i_{Lr} is not in phase with the Q_1 and Q_2 gate-driving signals, the secondary-side current i_{SEC} is in phase with V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} when $f_s=f_0$, as shown in Fig. 1.33. Therefore, the secondary-side current zero-across point can be sensed to track f_0 . This method is precise, but due to the large current on the secondary side, it requires a large current transformer and is less efficient due to the extra resistance of the transformer windings.

Therefore, an automatic resonant frequency tracking method is required to let the LLC-DCX always operate at the optimal switching point ($f_s=f_0$).

1.3 Dissertation Outline

Taking into account the challenges raised during the review of the existing literature on the control of LLC resonant converters, several issues have been addressed in this dissertation.

Chapter 1: Research background, motivation, and literature review.

Chapter 2:

2-1. The 2D state-plane analysis for LLC resonant converters is proposed;

2-2 The steady-state and transient trajectories are presented in the state plane.

Chapter 3:

3-1.To improve the load transient response, a simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) is proposed;

3-2. The hybrid control scheme of SOTC is implemented in a digital controller.

Chapter 4:

4-1. At the start-up moment, several switching patterns are proposed for initial condition settling of the LLC resonant tank.

4-2. During the soft start-up process, the optimal switching frequency is estimated based on a graphical state-trajectory analysis.

Chapter 5:

5-1. To improve the LLC light-load efficiency, an optimal burst mode is implemented for the best light-load efficiency.

5-2. For the PWM dimming of the LLC resonant LED driver, the burst pulses during the PWM dimming on-time are optimized to minimize dynamic oscillations.

Chapter 6:

6-1. An intelligent synchronous rectifier (SR) driving scheme is proposed for the LLC fullrange operation by eliminating the SR paralleled body diode conduction.

6-2. For LLC-DCX applications, the resonant frequency is automatically tracked based on the well-tuned SR gate-driving signal.

Chapter 7: Conclusion and future work.

Chapter 2. State-Plane Analysis of LLC Resonant Converters

In this chapter, the operation of LLC resonant converter is introduced. The LLC trajectory in the three-dimension (3D) state-space is simplified to the trajectory in the 2D state-plane, while keeping all state variable information. The steady-state and dynamic trajectories are illustrated.

2.1 Introduction

The state plane has been verified as a useful tool to analyze the steady state and transient behaviors of a class of resonant converters [B.7-B.19]. For the two-element resonant converters, such as the series resonant converter (SRC) and the parallel resonant converter (PRC), there are only two state variables (i.e. i_{Lr} and v_{Cr}) in the resonant circuits. Thus, it is easy to present the state-trajectory in a 2D state-plane [B.7]. After that, some optimal trajectory control approaches can be implemented to improve the dynamic performance [B.8] [B.9].

When it comes to multi-element resonant converters, like series-parallel resonant converters (SPRC), LCC-type parallel resonant converters, and etc., there are more than two state variables in the resonant circuits. Therefore, more than two dimension coordinates are required to present all the state variables [B.19]. However, it is much more difficult to understand and mathematically analyze the trajectory loci in the multi-dimension state-space than in the 2D state-plane. Some simplification methods have been applied to get the equivalent resonant capacitor or the resonant inductor, but they are only valid in certain operating points [B.12-B.13].

To analyze the LLC steady-state, load transient response, soft start-up, over-load protection, etc., the behavior of LLC resonant tank should be investigated in all operation frequency regions. Fig. 2.1 shows the operation of the LLC resonant converter. When it works at and above the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0 \& f_s>f_0$), the magnetizing inductor L_m is clamped by the output voltage, which is decoupled from the resonance. Thus, the resonant tank behaves a series resonant circuit of C_r and L_r . When the LLC works in below the resonant frequency region ($f_s<f_0$), during some intervals, L_m is in series with L_r , joining in the resonance. Therefore, the LLC resonant tank cannot be simply treated as a two-element resonant circuit with an equivalent resonant inductor and a resonant capacitor.

Therefore, a new approach should be investigated to represent all state variables (i.e. v_{Cr} , i_{Lr} and i_{Lm}) clearly in a 2D state-plane under all operation conditions.



Fig. 2.1 Operation of LLC resonant converter

2.2 LLC Steady-State Trajectory in 2D State-Plane

From the operation of the LLC resonant converter as in Fig. 2.1, when the magnetizing inductor L_m is clamped by the output voltage, the magnetizing current i_{Lm} is linearly controlled by the output voltage V_o . When L_m is in the resonant interval, it is in series with L_r , thus i_{Lm} is equal with the resonant current i_{Lr} . Instead of an independent state variable, i_{Lm} can be represented by V_o and i_{Lr} . Therefore, a 2D state-plane trajectory is possible to analyze all state variables in the LLC resonant tank. As shown in Fig. 2.2, by projecting the state-space trajectory to the i_{LrN} - v_{CrN} state-plane, both i_{Lr} and v_{Cr} state variable information are kept. Meanwhile, the i_{Lm} can be represented by i_{Lr} when L_m is in the resonant process.



Fig. 2.2 Simplification of 3D state-space to 2D state-plane trajectory

To simplify the i_{Lr} - v_{Cr} state-plane analysis, it is assumed that the output capacitor is large enough so that the output voltage (V_o) remains constant. A second assumption is that the circuit losses, including the resonant tank, switch and filter losses, are negligible.

Within the whole switching frequency region, the LLC resonant converter can be viewed as a piecewise linear system switching among six possible operation modes. When Q_1 is on, there are three operation modes as shown in Fig. 2.3.



Fig. 2.3 Operation modes and corresponding trajectories when Q_1 is on

• Mode I:

The primary switch Q_1 turns on, and the resonant current flows through the secondary-side rectifier D_2 . In this mode, the magnetizing inductor L_m is clamped by the output voltage. The

equivalent circuit is shown in Fig. 2.3, where the resonant capacitor C_r and the resonant inductor L_r form the series resonant tank. The source voltage across the resonant tank is V_{in} -n V_o .

Thus, we can write:

$$\dot{v}_{Cr} = \frac{1}{C_r} \dot{i}_{Lr} \tag{2.1}$$

$$\dot{i}_{Lr} = -\frac{1}{L_r} v_{Cr} + \frac{1}{L_r} \left(V_{in} - n V_o \right)$$
(2.2)

where v_{Cr} and i_{Lr} are the resonant capacitor voltage and resonant inductor current. Combining (2.1) and (2.2), v_{Cr} and i_{Lr} can be expressed as:

$$v_{Cr} - (V_{in} - nV_o) = I_{Lr0} \cdot Z_0 \cdot \sin[\omega_0(t - t_0)] + [V_{Cr0} - (V_{in} - nV_o)] \cdot \cos[\omega_0(t - t_0)]$$
(2.3)

$$i_{Lr} = I_{Lr0} \cdot \cos[\omega_0(t - t_0)] - \frac{V_{Cr0} - (V_{in} - nV_o)}{Z_0} \cdot \sin[\omega_0(t - t_0)]$$
(2.4)

where V_{Cr0} and I_{Lr0} are the initial conditions at time t=t₀, $Z_0 = \sqrt{L_r/C_r}$ is the characteristic impedance, and $\omega_0 = 1/\sqrt{L_rC_r}$ is the resonant frequency.

By normalizing all voltages with the voltage factor V_{in} , and all currents with the current factor V_{in}/Z_0 in (2.3) and (2.4), the following expressions are derived:

$$v_{CrN} - (1 - nV_{oN}) = I_{Lr0N} \cdot \sin[\omega_0(t - t_0)] + [V_{Cr0N} - (1 - nV_{oN})] \cdot \cos[\omega_0(t - t_0)]$$
(2.5)

$$i_{LrN} = I_{Lr0N} \cdot \cos[\omega_0(t - t_0)] - [V_{Cr0N} - (1 - nV_{oN})] \cdot \sin[\omega_0(t - t_0)].$$
(2.6)

The subscript N in (2.5) and (2.6) refers to normalized circuit variables.

From (2.5) and (2.6), the trajectory equation is given by:

$$\left[v_{CrN} - (1 - nV_{oN})\right]^{2} + i_{LrN}^{2} = \left[V_{Cr0N} - (1 - nV_{oN})\right]^{2} + I_{Lr0N}^{2}, \qquad (2.7)$$

which behaves as a circle as shown in Fig. 2.3. The center $(1-nV_{oN}, 0)$ is determined by the source voltage across the tank, and radius depends on the initial conditions: V_{Cr0} and I_{Lr0} , which reflects the energy in the resonant tank.

Mode II

In Mode II, Q_1 is on, but the current flowing through the secondary side changes its direction. This occurs when the switching frequency is larger than the resonant frequency (i.e. $f_s > f_0$). This mode is similar to Mode I, but the source voltage across the resonant tank changes to $V_{in} + nV_o$.

Similar to Mode I, the trajectory expression is given by:

$$\left[v_{CrN} - \left(1 + nV_{oN}\right)\right]^{2} + i_{LrN}^{2} = \left[V_{Cr0N} - \left(1 + nV_{oN}\right)\right]^{2} + I_{Lr0N}^{2}, \qquad (2.8)$$

which behaves as a circle as well, but the center changes to $(1+nV_{oN}, 0)$.

• Mode III:

In Mode III, Q_1 is on, but there is no current flowing through the secondary side. This mode occurs when $f_s < f_0$. In this mode, the magnetizing inductor L_m joins the resonance, and the

magnetizing current i_{Lm} can be represented by i_{Lr} . The source voltage across the resonant tank is V_{in} , and:

$$\dot{v}_{Cr} = \frac{1}{C_r} \dot{i}_{Lr} \tag{2.9}$$

$$\dot{i}_{Lr} = -\frac{1}{L_r + L_m} v_{Cr} + \frac{1}{L_r + L_m} V_{in}$$
(2.10)

From (2.9) and (2.10), v_{Cr} and i_{Lr} in Mode III are given by:

$$v_{Cr} - V_{in} = I_{Lr0} \cdot Z_1 \cdot \sin[\omega_1(t - t_0)] + (V_{Cr0} - V_{in}) \cdot \cos[\omega_1(t - t_0)]$$
(2.11)

$$i_{Lr} = I_{Lr0} \cdot \cos[\omega_1(t - t_0)] - \frac{V_{Cr0} - V_{in}}{Z_1} \cdot \sin[\omega_1(t - t_0)], \qquad (2.12)$$

where $Z_1 = \sqrt{(L_r + L_m)/C_r}$ is the characteristic impedance, and $\omega_1 = 1/\sqrt{(L_r + L_m)C_r}$ is the resonant frequency when L_m is in the resonance.

If representing the trajectory on the same state plane, the same normalization factors should be employed. Thus, the normalized forms of v_{Cr} and i_{Lr} are

$$v_{CrN} - 1 = \frac{I_{Lr0N}}{Z_0/Z_1} \cdot \sin[\omega_1(t - t_0)] + (V_{Cr0N} - 1) \cdot \cos[\omega_1(t - t_0)]$$
(2.13)

$$\frac{i_{LrN}}{Z_0/Z_1} = \frac{I_{Lr0N}}{Z_0/Z_1} \cdot \cos[\omega_1(t-t_0)] - (V_{Cr0N}-1) \cdot \sin[\omega_1(t-t_0)].$$
(2.14)

The trajectory is obtained from (2.13) and (2.14):

$$\left(v_{CrN} - 1\right)^2 + \left(\frac{i_{LrN}}{Z_0/Z_1}\right)^2 = \left(V_{Cr0N} - 1\right)^2 + \left(\frac{i_{Lr0N}}{Z_0/Z_1}\right)^2, \qquad (2.15)$$

which behaves as an ellipse with a center (1,0). Since L_m participates in the resonance, the characteristic impedance Z_1 becomes large ($Z_1 > Z_0$). If it is normalized with the same current factor V_{in}/Z_0 , the trajectory looks like a circle been compressed, which is an ellipse, as shown in Fig. 2.3.

If the switch Q_1 is off and Q_2 turns on, there are another three operation modes as shown in Fig. 2.4.



Fig. 2.4 Operation modes and corresponding trajectories when Q_2 is on

• Mode IV

In Mode IV, the primary-side main switch Q_2 turns on, and the resonant current flows through the secondary-side rectifier D_1 as shown in Fig. 2.4. The only difference from Mode I is the source voltage across resonant tank becomes nV_0 . Deriving the normalized equation for the state trajectory, we get:

$$\left(v_{CrN} - nV_{oN}\right)^{2} + i_{LrN}^{2} = \left(V_{Cr0N} - nV_{oN}\right)^{2} + I_{Lr0N}^{2}, \qquad (2.16)$$

and thus, the circle center changes to $(nV_{oN}, 0)$.

• Mode V

In Mode V, Q_2 is on, but the current on the secondary side changes its direction, flowing through D_2 , as shown in Fig. 2.4. This occurs when $f_s > f_0$, similar to Mode II. The normalized expression for the trajectory is:

$$\left(v_{CrN} + nV_{oN}\right)^{2} + i_{LrN}^{2} = \left(V_{Cr0N} + nV_{oN}\right)^{2} + I_{Lr0N}^{2}.$$
(2.17)

Now the circle center changes to $(-nV_{oN}, 0)$.

Mode VI

In Mode VI, Q_2 is on, but there is no current flowing through the secondary side. This mode happens when $f_s < f_0$. Like in Mode III, C_r , L_r and L_m form the series resonant tank. But the source voltage across the resonant tank changes to 0. The trajectory after normalization is:

$$v_{CrN}^{2} + \left(\frac{i_{LrN}}{Z_{0}/Z_{1}}\right)^{2} = V_{Cr0N}^{2} + \left(\frac{I_{Lr0N}}{Z_{0}/Z_{1}}\right)^{2}, \qquad (2.18)$$

which is an ellipse as in Mode III, but with a center (0, 0).

The LLC steady-state trajectory is the combination of the above six operation modes. Fig. 2.5 to Fig. 2.10 show the steady-state time-domain waveforms and corresponding trajectory loci when $f_s=f_0$, $f_s< f_0$ and $f_s> f_0$ respectively.

Fig. 2.5 shows the time-domain waveforms when the LLC operates at the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$). At time t_0 , the resonant current i_{Lr} equals to the magnetizing current i_{Lm} (i.e. $i_{Lr}=i_{Lm}$). From t_0 to t_1 , it equivalently operates under Mode I: L_m is clamped by the output voltage, which is decoupled from the resonance; and C_r and L_r form the series resonant tank. Then from t_1 to t_2 , the LLC operates under Mode IV. The amplitudes of i_{Lr} and v_{Cr} is determined by the load conditions. The heavier the load is, the larger the amplitudes will be.

Fig. 2.6 shows the corresponding trajectory when mapping the normalized resonant current i_{LrN} and resonant voltage v_{CrN} to the state plane. To the half-bridge LLC topology, when $f_s=f_0$, the voltage gain is one; that is, $nV_{oN}=0.5$. Therefore, the center of operation Mode I (1- nV_{oN} , 0) equals to (0.5, 0), and the center of operation Mode IV (nV_{oN} , 0) equals to (0.5, 0). Thus, the two half circles of Mode I and Mode IV have the same center (0.5, 0), which combine to form one whole circle as shown in Fig. 2.5. The connecting points at t_0 and t_1 are the points where i_{Lr} equals to i_{Lm} . In the state plane, the heavier the load is, the larger the radius ρ will be.



Fig. 2.5 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when $f_s=f_0$



Fig 2.6 Steady-state trajectory when $f_s=f_0$

Fig. 2.7 shows the time-domain waveforms when the LLC operates below the resonant frequency point ($f_s < f_0$). From times t_0 to t_1 and t_2 to t_3 , similar to the operation at $f_s = f_0$, it equivalently works under Mode I and Mode IV. From t_1 to t_2 and t_3 to t_4 , the magnetizing inductor L_m participates in the resonance. When mapping to the state plane in Fig. 2.8, there are two partial ellipse trajectory loci of Mode III and Mode VI, connecting two half circles of Mode I and Mode IV with split centers. In fact, when $f_s < f_0$, the voltage gain is larger than one (i.e.

 $nV_{oN}>0.5$), and the circle center of Mode I is on the left of (0.5, 0), since 1- $nV_{oN}<0.5$; and the circle center of Mode IV is on the right of (0.5, 0), since $nV_{oN}>0.5$.



Fig. 2.7 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when $f_s < f_0$



Fig. 2.8 Steady-state trajectory when $f_s < f_0$

In Fig. 2.9 and Fig. 2.10, the LLC operates in above the resonant frequency region ($f_s > f_0$). At t_0 moment, i_{Lr} equals to i_{Lm} . From times t_0 to t_1 and t_2 to t_3 , it equivalently works under Mode I and Mode IV. Now, the voltage gain is smaller than one (i.e. $nV_{oN} < 0.5$), thus, the circle center of Mode I (1- nV_{oN} , 0) is on the right of (0.5, 0); and the circle center of Mode IV (nV_{oN} , 0) is on the left of (0.5, 0). From times t_1 to t_2 , i_{Lr} sharply decreases as under Mode V. It corresponds to the partial locus of the large circle with center ($-nV_{oN}$, 0). Similarly, from t₃ to t₄, it operates under Mode II, corresponding to the partial locus of another large circle with center ($1+nV_{oN}$, 0).



Fig. 2.9 Steady-state time-domain waveforms when $f_s > f_0$



Fig. 2.10 Steady-state trajectory when $f_s > f_0$

Besides the illustration of LLC operation, the steady-state trajectory can explain the energy in the resonant tank as well. When $f_s < f_0$, the ellipse loci will extend the trajectory area in the state plane as shown in Fig. 2.8, which means that resonant tank energy increases. This is the reason why the voltage gain can be boosted as $f_s < f_0$. During the holdup operation, the LLC should work in this region. If $f_s > f_0$, the larger partial circle loci will cut the trajectory area as shown in Fig. 2.10, which means the reduced resonant tank energy. Thus, during the soft start-up and over-load protection, the LLC is required to work above the resonant frequency point to minimize the resonant current and voltage stress.

2.3 LLC Dynamic Trajectories in State-Plane

Normally the LLC resonant converter is designed to operate near the resonant frequency to achieve the best efficiency. Thus, the steady-state trajectory is close to a whole circle as shown in Fig. 2.6. The graphic state-plane analysis of dynamic responses during the load transient, start-up process, and burst mode are illustrated in this section.

2.3.1 Load transient state trajectory

With a conventional linear compensator, like PI or PID, the switching frequency is controlled to regulate the output voltage [B.20-B.25]. Fig. 2.11 shows the control scheme. If the closed-loop compensator is designed with a large bandwidth, the load-transient response will be fast, but there will be dynamic oscillations due to the small phase margin. As shown in Fig. 2.12, when the load steps up, there are many dynamic trajectories between the light-load and heavy-load steady states. Firstly, the circle will extend, and then shrink, and then extend again. Finally, it will approach to the heavy-load steady-state large circle.



Fig 2.11 LLC resonant converter with a linear compensator



Fig. 2.12 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator with high bandwidth and small phase margin

Fig. 2.13 shows the dynamic response of a linear compensator with a bit lower bandwidth and larger phase margin. The oscillation is eliminated, but the response is much slower. From the state plane, there are many trajectory loci when jumping from the small light-load circle to the large heavy-load circle.



Fig. 2.13 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator with low bandwidth and large phase margin

Therefore, a new control strategy is required to improve the load-transient dynamic performance, while having a simple implementation. From the graphic state plane point of view, the oscillation circles should be eliminated when jumping between light-load small circle and heavy-load large circle.

2.3.2 Start-up transient state trajectory

Different from the steady state, at the start-up moment, there is no energy in the resonant tank, which means that the resonant inductor current and the capacitor voltage both are zero (i.e. $i_{Lr}=0$, $v_{Cr}=0$). Thus, on the state plane, the initial point is (0, 0). Before running, the LLC output voltage is zero (i.e. $V_0=0$). When the LLC up-side switch Q_1 firstly turns on, the equivalent circuit is shown in Fig. 2.14. The voltage across the resonant tank is V_{in} . After normalized with the voltage factor V_{in} , the trajectory is a circle with center (1, 0) as shown in Fig. 2.15. Then Q_2 turns on, since the output voltage has not been built up yet, the voltage across the resonant tank is zero. Correspondingly, on the state plane, the trajectory circle center is (0, 0). Thus, if starting up

at the normal operating point ($f_s=f_0$), Q_1 trajectory will go through half circle from the initial point (0, 0), and then the Q_2 trajectory will go through another half circle from previous final status (2, 0). As shown in Fig. 2.15, the circles will become larger and larger, which means extreme current and voltage stresses in the resonant tank.



Fig. 2.14 Equivalent circuits when LLC starts up

If the LLC resonant converter starts up with $5f_0$ as shown in Fig. 2.16, the voltage and current stresses in the resonant tank will be much smaller. But at Q_1 second switching instant, ZVS will be lost. Thus, the Q_1 MOSFET will be much more fragile to be damaged.

Therefore, an optimal control approach is required for the LLC soft start-up based on the state-trajectory analysis. The current and voltage stresses should be limited; the ZVS should be guaranteed; and the output voltage should be built up smoothly and quickly.



Fig. 2.15 Initial trajectory when LLC starts up at $f_s=f_0$



Fig. 2.16 Initial trajectory when LLC starts up at $f_s=5f_0$

2.3.3 Burst mode dynamic state trajectory

The burst mode for LLC light load efficiency improvement is a highly dynamic process as well. Since the LLC resonant converter is always alternate between the idle status and working status. Thus, it is not easy to fix to the optimal load (I_{OPT}) steady state during the burst on-time to achieve best efficiency. As illustrated in Fig. 1.22 and 2.17, there will be oscillated current in the resonant tank.



Fig. 2.17 Oscillating resonant current during the burst on-time

Different from the normal operating condition, the output voltage V_0 is regulated to be constant, in the burst mode, V_0 has a low frequency ripple as shown in Fig. 2.17. During the burst on-time, switches Q_1 and Q_2 conduct alternatively to charge the output capacitor, thus the output voltage is increased by ΔV_0 . When Q_1 conducts as Mode I, the source voltage across the resonant tank will change to V_{in} -n V_o -n ΔV_o ; and when Q_2 conducts as Mode IV, the source voltage across the resonant tank will change to nV_o +n ΔV_o . Therefore, on the state plane, during the burst on-time as shown in Fig. 2.18, center O_1 at Mode I will move to left, from (0.5, 0) to (0.5-n ΔV_{oN} , 0); and O_2 at Mode IV will move to right, from (0.5, 0) to (0.5+n ΔV_{oN} , 0). As a result, the circle radius ρ will decrease step by step, which means that the instantaneous energy of the resonant tank will shrink step by step. From the time-domain waveforms, as V_o increases, and resonant current i_{Lr} will decrease step by step equivalently from the heavy load to the light load, never fixing at the I_{OPT} steady state as desired. This dynamic oscillation increases the I_{RMS} value, thus reducing the burst efficiency.



Fig. 2.18 Oscillating circles during the burst on-time
Therefore, an optimal burst mode is required to let the LLC always operate at the best efficiency point during the burst on-time. From the state-trajectory analysis, the output voltage variation should be minimized firstly to avoid the oscillation.

2.4 Conclusion

For the LLC resonant converter, the two-dimension (2D) state-plane trajectory analysis is proposed. Even with 2D trajectory loci, all the resonant tank information such as the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} , the resonant inductor current i_{Lr} , and the magnetizing inductor current i_{Lm} can be clearly presented. The steady-state trajectories within the whole operation region are described. The dynamic trajectories during the load transients, start-up and the burst operation are illustrated as well. To improve these dynamic performances, some optimal control approaches will be presented based on the graphic state-plane analysis in the remaining chapters.

Chapter 3. Dynamic Improvement I: Simplified Optimal Trajectory Control (SOTC) for Load Transient

In this chapter, a simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) for the LLC resonant converter is proposed. During the steady state, a linear compensator such as PI or PID is used, controlling the switching frequency (f_s) to eliminate the steady-state error. However, during load transients, the optimal trajectory control (OTC) method takes over, immediately changing the pulse widths of the gate-driving signals. Using the graphic state-plane analysis, the pulse widths are estimated, letting the state variables track the optimal trajectory loci in the minimum period of time. The proposed solution is implemented in a digital controller, and experimental results show that while the digital logic requirement is very small, the performance improvement is significant.

3.1 Introduction

Compared with PWM converters, the LLC control characteristic is more complex due to the fast dynamic characteristic of the resonant tank. For PWM converters, the natural frequency of the output filter is much lower than the switching frequency. Thus, the state-space average method can provide simple and accurate small-signal model [B.1] [B.2]. However, for the LLC resonant converter, the natural frequency of the resonant tank is close to the switching frequency. Since the average method will eliminate the information of switching frequency, it cannot predict the LLC dynamic performance. Therefore, some other approaches such as extend describing function [B.3] [B.4], multi-frequency averaging method [B.5], simulation-based method [B.6]

are required. And all of them need extensive effort of computation. According to these models, a linear compensator like PI or PID [B.20] [B.21] is designed, as shown in Fig. 3.1. Recently, some current-mode controls [B.22-B.25] were proposed to obtain better performance. However, due to the limitations of small-signal models, all of these methods are only valid around a particular operation point.



Fig. 3.1 LLC resonant converter with a linear compensator

Compared with the complicated modeling derivation and the limited performance of linear control methods, some non-linear control approaches were proposed based on the graphical state-plane analysis [B.7-B.19]. For the series resonant converters (SRC), the optimal trajectory control (OTC) has been demonstrated to have the best dynamic performance [B.8] [B.10]. The control circuit calculates the variable R at every instantaneous value of the resonant current i_{Lr} , the resonant voltage v_{Cr} , the input voltage v_s and the output voltage v_o . Based on state-plane analysis, the power switches turn on at the instant when the variable R becomes equal to the control reference R_{ref} . By forcing the state variables to track the desired trajectory, this approach guarantees that the time required to reach the steady state is minimal and overshoot is avoided, thus ensuring optimal dynamic performance. However, the on-line computation of variable R is

nonlinear and complicated, and thus difficult to implement. In order to reduce the control complexity, some simplified methods have been proposed for SRC. In [B.14] [B.16], the pseudo-linear form of the control variable R is introduced. In addition, some other linear combinations of the state variables to determine switching instants are proposed in [B.18].

When it comes to the LLC resonant converter as shown in Fig. 3.2, like the OTC for SRC, firstly, the circle centers O_1 and O_2 need to be determined by the equivalent voltage across the resonant tank, thus the input voltage V_{in} and the output voltage V_0 need to be sensed. And then, the radius R is calculated at the every instantaneous value of the state variables. The switches turn on at the moments when R is equal to R_{ref} as shown in Fig. 3.3. As illustrated in Chapter 2, the LLC state-plane trajectory is much more complicated than that of the SRC. Moreover, there are more operation modes in the LLC resonant converter. All of these will increase the implementation complexity of the OTC.



Fig. 3.2 Complicated implementation of conventional OTC for LLC



Fig. 3.3 Switching instance capture with conventional OTC

In this chapter, a digital simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) is proposed for the LLC resonant converter. During the steady state, the linear regulator is used. At the transient instant, the optimal trajectory control is applied by changing the pulse widths of the driving signals to force the state variables to hit the desired trajectory. Thus, the SOTC will significantly improve the transient response while preserving the closed-loop stability. In this approach, only the load current sensing is needed to determine the optimal pulse widths.

3.2 SOTC in Load Step-up Transient

In this section, the simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) is illustrated in detail. With the advantage of digital implementation, it enables more intelligent power control during load transients. Fig. 3.4 shows the control block diagram. Under the steady state, a conventional linear regulator, such as PI or PID compensator, controls the switching frequency (f_s) to regulate the output voltage (V_o). In addition, the load current (i_{Load}) is sensed to monitor the transient moment. When the load steps up or down, the SOTC will immediately respond, determining the required pulse widths ($\Delta T_{INC} / \Delta T_{DEC}$) to follow the optimal trajectory.



Fig. 3.4 SOTC control blocks for LLC resonant converter

In order to achieve the best efficiency, the LLC resonant converter is designed to operate near the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$), and thus the steady-state trajectory lies on a circle, as presented in Fig. 3.5. The heavier the load is, the larger the circle radius will be. When the load steps up from the light load (I_{LL}) to the heavy load (I_{HL}), as shown in Fig. 3.5, the OTC approach will increase the pulse width of the up-switch gate-driving signals (V_{gsQ1}), letting L_m join the resonance from times t_1 to t_2 , as in Mode III. If mapped to the state plane, one partial ellipse trajectory will connect two circles.

Although at t_2 moment, the resonant inductor current i_{Lr} and resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} are settled to the heavy load steady state. Due to the increase of one pulse width, the magnetizing inductor current i_{Lm} is unbalanced as shown in the shaded area in Fig. 3.5. Since the magnetizing inductor L_m is always large, after OTC jumping one pulse, the linear compensator like PI control needs take a lot of switching cycles to eliminate the steady-status error. As shown in Fig. 3.5 state-plane drawing, there are many dynamic trajectory circles near the final heavy load steady state.



Fig. 3.5 One-step SOTC during the load-step-up

To settle all the state variables (i_{Lr} , v_{Cr} and i_{Lm}), OTC should employ two-pulse jump when the load steps up. As shown in Fig. 3.6, the SOTC approach will increase the pulse widths of V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} , letting L_m join the resonance from times t_1 to t_2 and t_3 to t_4 , as in Mode III and Mode VI. If mapped to the state plane, by going through these two ellipse loci and the transitional half circle, all state variables will hit the final steady-state heavy-load circle at time t_4 . After that, the PI compensator takes over to eliminate the steady-state error. Since all state



variables are almost settled at t_4 moment, the PI compensator takes less effort. The trajectory is almost fixed to the heady-load steady state.

Fig. 3.6 Two-step SOTC during the load-step-up

By sensing the load current i_{Load} and using the state-plane graph, the increased pulse widths can be estimated at the load step-up moment. The calculation process is shown in detail below.

From [A.33], near the resonant frequency point, the expression of RMS value (I_{RMS}) of the resonant current i_{Lr} is

$$I_{RMS} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}} \cdot \frac{V_o}{nR_L} \sqrt{\frac{n^4 R_L^2 T^2}{L_m^2} + 4\pi^2} = \frac{1}{4\sqrt{2}} \sqrt{\frac{n^2 V_o^2 T^2}{L_m^2} + 4\pi^2 \cdot \left(\frac{i_{Load}}{n}\right)^2},$$
(3.1)

where n is the transformer turn ratio, T is the resonant period (T= $2\pi/\omega_0$), and i_{Load} is the load condition.

As shown in Fig. 3.7, the circle radius ρ in the state-plane is the normalized current peak value:



Fig. 3.7 Steady-state trajectory analysis when $f_s=f_0$

From times t_0 to t_1 , the magnetizing inductor L_m is clamped by the output voltage; thus i_{Lm} increases linearly as shown in Fig. 3.6. At time t_1 , the resonant current i_{Lr} is equal to i_{Lm} :

$$i_{Lr}(t_1) = i_{Lm}(t_1) = \frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4}.$$
(3.3)

The normalized form is

$$i_{LrN}(t_1) = i_{LmN}(t_1) = \frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0}.$$
(3.4)

Solving the right triangle \triangle ABO in Fig. 3.7, the normalized resonant capacitor voltage at t₁, which is when Q₁ turns off, is obtained:

$$v_{CN}(t_1) = \sqrt{\rho^2 - i_{LrN}(t_1)^2} + 0.5 = \frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{i_{Load}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5,$$
(3.5)

where the resonant capacitor voltage at time t_1 is related to the load current i_{Load} .

Therefore, under the light-load condition, the resonant capacitor voltage at time t₁ is

$$v_{CrN}(t_1) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{LL}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5 , \qquad (3.6)$$

where I_{LL} is the light-load current.

When the load steps up, by sensing the load current, the resonant capacitor voltage at time t_4 can be predicted as

$$v_{CrN}(t_4) = -\frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{HL}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5, \qquad (3.7)$$

where I_{HL} is the heavy-load current.

As shown in Fig. 3.6, the transitional half circle from t_2 to t_3 can be approximated to be at the middle of two circles; the inner circle corresponding at light load and the outer circle at the heavy load. Thus, the normalized capacitor voltage at t_2 can be calculated as

$$v_{CrN}(t_2) = \frac{v_{CrN}(t_1) + (1 - v_{CrN}(t_4))}{2} = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{(I_{LL} + I_{HL})/2}{n} \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(3.8)

Since the magnetizing inductor L_m is much larger than the resonant inductor L_r , from times t_1 to t_2 , the current can be treated as a constant I; i.e.:

$$I = i_{Lr}(t_1) = i_{Lm}(t_1) = \frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4} = \frac{V_{in}}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{8}.$$
(3.9)

This constant current charges the resonant capacitor C_r from t_1 to t_2 to achieve the SOTC. Thus, the increased pulse width is

$$\Delta T_{INC} = t_2 - t_1 = \frac{C_r \cdot \left(v_{CrN}(t_2) - v_{CrN}(t_1)\right) \cdot V_{in}}{I} = \frac{L_m \cdot \left(I_{HL} - I_{LL}\right)/n}{V_{in}},$$
(3.10)

which can be determined by load sensing (I_{HL} and I_{LL}) and digital calculation.

Since the transitional circle locates at the middle of two steady-state circles, the time duration from t_3 to t_4 is the same with ΔT_{INC} from t_1 to t_2 . Thus, when the load steps up, the SOTC will increases two pulse widths of driving signals V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} by ΔT_{INC} to follow the optimal trajectory as plotted in Fig. 3.6.

As a comparison, the simulated dynamic response with a conventional linear compensator is given in Fig. 3.8. The response is fast, but there will be some dynamic oscillations. From the state plane, there are many trajectory loci when jumping from the small light-load circle to the large heavy-load circle.



Fig. 3.8 Load-step-up response of a linear compensator

If with the proposed SOTC, Fig. 3.9 shows that there is almost no dynamic oscillation. All the state variables (i_{Lr} , i_{Lm} and v_{Cr}) settle to the new steady state quickly. After two pulses jump, the dynamic trajectory is quite clean. The linear compensator takes less effort to converge to the new steady state by getting rid of the steady-state error.



Fig. 3.9 Load-step-up response of the SOTC

As in (3.10), the accurate prediction of ΔT_{INC} depends on knowing V_{in} , L_m and load conditions (I_{HL} and I_{LL}). However, the input voltage V_{in} may have a variation; L_m may have a tolerance; and the sensing results of I_{HL} and I_{LL} may have an error. All of these will reduce the accuracy of ΔT_{INC} . Take the load sensing error as an example. At the load step-up moment, if the sensing results are 20% smaller than the real loads, the actual ΔT_{INC} will be 20% smaller than the required one. Fig. 3.10 shows that the linear compensator will take a bit more effort to converge to the new steady state after two pulses jump. In terms of the state plane, there are a bit more oscillations near the heavy-load steady circle. But the dynamic performance is still much better than that of a conventional linear compensator.



Fig. 3.10 Load-step-up response of the SOTC with 20% load sensing mismatch

In addition, ΔT_{INC} is obtained with the assumption that the LLC operates near the resonant frequency point. However, if the LLC is connected to a PFC, the input voltage has a low-frequency variation. When the actual input voltage is 10% smaller than the normal V_{in}, the linear compensator will regulate f_s to below the resonant frequency point. As shown in Fig. 3.11, after

two pulses jump with ΔT_{INC} , the SOTC presents a bit of oscillations. But compared with the dynamic response only using a linear compensator, the transient improvement is still significant.

Therefore, the estimation of ΔT_{INC} in (3.10) has a good error-tolerance for the parameter variations.



Fig. 3.11 Load-step-up response of the SOTC when V_{in} is 10% smaller

In the distributed power architecture, the LLC output is usually fed to the point of load converters (POLs). Thus the LLC output load might slowly steps up as shown in Fig. 3.12. A multi-step SOTC strategy is employed. The pulse widths of the gate driving signals increase step by step according to the load step change in each switching cycle. From the state-plane, it will go through several ellipse loci and transitional circles, finally approaching the heavy load steady state. After that, the PI compensator takes over to get rid of the steady-state error.

If the LLC load steps up more slowly, a linear compensator can converge to the new steady state with few oscillations and less settling time. It is unnecessary to adopt the SOTC to improve



the load transient dynamic response. Thus, a threshold load-step change (I_{th}) is set to trigger the SOTC. Fig. 3.13 shows the control flowchart implemented in the digital controller.

Fig. 3.12 Muli-step SOTC for slowly changed load



Fig. 3.13 Control flowchart of the SOTC

3.3 SOTC in Load Step-down Transient

On the other hand, if the load steps down, the SOTC will decrease the pulse widths of the driving signals. In Fig. 3.14, at the transient instant, from times t_1 to t_2 and t_3 to t_4 , the SOTC controls the state variables going through trajectories of Mode V and II, jumping from the initial heavy-load large circle to the final light-load small circle within the time of two pulse widths.



Fig. 3.14 SOTC during the load-step-down

By sensing the load current i_{Load} and using the state-plane graph, the decreased pulse widths can be estimated at the load step-down moment as well. The detailed calculation process is shown below.

Similar to (3.7), the resonant capacitor voltage at t_0 is:

$$v_{CrN}(t_0) = -\frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{HL}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(3.11)

When the load steps down, the resonant capacitor voltage at time t₄ is predicted:

$$v_{CrN}(t_4) = -\frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{LL}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(3.12)

Since the circles of Mode V and II are much larger, as illustrated in Fig. 2.9 in Chapter 2, the partial circles from times t_1 to t_2 and t_3 to t_4 could be assumed to be the lines shown in Fig. 3.15. Thus,

$$v_{CrN}(t_1) = v_{CrN}(t_2) \tag{3.13}$$

$$v_{CrN}(t_3) = v_{CrN}(t_4). \tag{3.14}$$

Within the OTC duration, the magnetizing inductor L_m is always clamped by the output voltage nV_o . In order to settle the magnetizing current i_{Lm} ($i_{Lm}(t_4) = i_{Lm}(t_0)$), the pulse width of V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} should be equal. In terms of the state plane, the angle (α_1) from t_0 to t_1 should be the same of angle (α_2) from t_2 to t_3 (i.e. $\alpha_1 = \alpha_2$).

Solving the two similar triangles shaded in Fig. 3.15, we obtain:

$$\frac{v_{CrN}(t_2) - 0.5}{0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_0)} = \frac{0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_3)}{v_{CrN}(t_1) - 0.5} = \frac{i_{LmN}(t_2)}{-i_{LmN}(t_0)}$$
(3.15)



Fig. 3.15 Simplified analysis of SOTC during load step-down

Using (3.11) to (3.15), the resonant capacitor voltage at switching instant t_2 can be determined as

$$v_{CrN}(t_2) = \sqrt{\left(0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_0)\right) \cdot \left(0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_3)\right)} + 0.5 = \frac{\pi}{2} \frac{\sqrt{I_{HL} \cdot I_{LL}}}{n} \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(3.16)

At t_0 , the resonant current i_{Lr} is equal to the magnetizing current i_{Lm} , which is similar to (3.4):

$$i_{LrN}(t_0) = i_{LmN}(t_0) = -\frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0}.$$
(3.17)

From (3.11), (3.15) to (3.17), the magnetizing current at t_2 instant can be solved as:

$$\dot{i}_{LmN}(t_2) = -\dot{i}_{LmN}(t_0) \cdot \frac{v_{CrN}(t_2) - 0.5}{0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_0)} = \frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{I_{LL}}{I_{HL}}}.$$
(3.18)

From times t_0 to t_2 , the magnetizing inductor L_m is clamped by the output voltage as shown in Fig. 3.14, thus i_{Lm} is linearly increased. The time duration from t_0 to t_2 can be obtained as follow:

$$T' = t_2 - t_0 = \frac{L_m \cdot (i_{LmN}(t_2) - i_{LmN}(t_0)) \cdot V_{in} / Z_0}{nV_o} = \left(1 + \sqrt{\frac{I_{LL}}{I_{HL}}}\right) \cdot \frac{T}{4}.$$
(3.19)

Since the time duration from t_1 to t_2 is negligible, the decreased pulse width to achieve the optimal trajectory is

$$\Delta T_{DEC} = \frac{T}{2} - T' = \left(1 - \sqrt{\frac{I_{LL}}{I_{HL}}}\right) \cdot \frac{T}{4}, \qquad (3.20)$$

when the load steps down, as shown in Fig. 3.14.

Figs. 3.16, 3.17 and 3.18 provide a comparison of the load-step-down responses between the conventional linear compensators and the proposed SOTC. Fig. 3.16 shows some dynamic oscillations when using a fast compensator with high bandwidth and small phase margin. In addition, Fig. 3.17 shows the response of a linear compensator with a bit lower bandwidth but larger phase margin. The oscillation is eliminated, but the response is slower. In terms of the state plane, there are many trajectories when jumping from the large heavy-load circle to the small light-load circle in both linear compensator designs.



Fig. 3.16 Load-step-down response of a linear compensator with high bandwidth and small phase margin



Fig. 3.17 Load-step-down response of a linear compensator with low bandwidth and large phase margin

If the SOTC is employed, Fig. 3.18 shows that there is almost no dynamic oscillation, and all the state variables quickly settle to the new light-load steady state. After the SOTC two-pulses tuning, the linear compensator takes less effort to converge to the new light-load steady state. Obviously, the trajectory is quite clean compared with that of the linear controls.



Fig. 3.18 Load-step-down response of the SOTC

3.4 Experimental Results

The experiment is carried out on a 300W 400V/12V half-bridge LLC resonant converter. The main converter parameters are shown in Table 3.1. The switching frequency is about 120 kHz under the steady state. The hybrid control system is built in the Cyclone III series FPGA. The converter prototype is shown in Fig. 3.19.

Designed parameters	Parameter Values
Input Voltage (V _{in})	400V
Output Voltage (V _o)	12V
Resonant Capacitor (Cr)	24nF
Resonant Inductor (L _r)	60 µH
Transformer Magnetizing Inductor (L _m)	300 µH
Turns Ratio (n)	17:1:1
Output Capacitor (C _o)	440 µF

Table 3.1 The parameters of LLC resonant converter



Fig. 3.19 Converter prototype

Besides the linear compensator, the total number of logic gates for the SOTC is only around 1400 in the FPGA. Thus, the hybrid digital implementation of Fig. 3.4 is very simple, but the performance improvement shown below is significant.

For the purpose of comparison, a conventional PI linear compensator has been designed with about 6kHz bandwidth and 45 ° phase margin. The transient response of load step-up from 5A to 15A is shown in Fig. 3.20, and some dynamic oscillations are presented.

When the SOTC is employed, the pulse width of the driving signal is increased about 0.45µs according to (3.10). After the load-step-up, the state variables follow the heavy-load steady state. Fig. 3.21 shows the dynamic improvement with less overshoot and smaller settling time.

The enlarged waveform at the load step-up transition is shown in Fig. 3.22. With the OTC, the pulse widths increase immediately. The resonant inductor current i_{Lr} settles to the heavy-load steady-state condition in the minimum time.



Fig. 3.20 Load step-up oscillation with a linear compensator



Fig. 3.21 Improved load step-up response with the SOTC



Fig. 3.22 Detailed waveform of the SOTC at the load-step-up moment

The transient response of the load step-down from 15A to 5A with the same PI compensator is shown in Fig. 3.23. Fig. 3.24 shows that the SOTC significantly improves the dynamic performance, reducing the overshoot to 100mV.



Fig. 3.23 Load step-down response with a linear compensator



Fig. 3.24 Improved load step-down response with the SOTC

Finally, Fig. 3.25 illustrates that within the OTC, at the step-down instant, the pulse widths decrease about 0.9 μ s according to (3.20). Following the optimal trajectory in Fig. 3.14, the resonant inductor current i_{Lr} can settle to the light-load steady-state condition within the minimal period of time.



Fig. 3.25 Detailed waveform of the SOTC at the load-step-down moment

3.5 Conclusion

A simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) for LLC resonant converters is proposed. During steady-state conditions, a linear compensator is used, controlling the switching frequency to eliminate the steady-state error. During load transients, the optimal trajectory control (OTC) takes over, tuning the pulse widths of the gate driving signals based on the sensed load current. Using the state plane analysis, the pulse widths are calculated, letting the state variables track the desired trajectory within the minimum period of time. For the purpose of rapid prototyping, the proposed approach has been implemented in FPGA. It features simple implementation, dramatic improvement in load-step response and easy integration with existing controllers.

Chapter 4. Dynamic Improvement II: Optimal Trajectory Control for Soft Start-Up and Over-Load Protection

In this chapter, the soft start-up process for the LLC resonant converter is investigated and optimized based on a graphical state-trajectory analysis. By setting a current limitation band, several optimal switching patterns are proposed to settle the initial condition. After that, by sensing the output voltage, the optimal switching frequency is determined within the current limiting band. This virtually guarantees that there will be no current and voltage stress in the resonant tank during the soft start-up process and over-load protection. Meanwhile, the output voltage is built up quickly and smoothly. When it comes to the over-load protection, it is a reverse operation of the soft start-up. By applying the similar switching pattern, the resonant current and voltage stress is limited under the over-load condition.

4.1 Introduction

Fig. 4.1 shows the DC characteristic of the LLC resonant converter. Normally, the LLC operates near the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$) to keep the best efficiency. During the hold-up time operation, the input voltage decreases while the output voltage should stay constant, thus the switching frequency decreases ($f_s < f_0$) to boost the voltage-gain. Under the soft start-up condition, the output voltage needs be built up from zero to the steady-state value, in order to prevent from entering the zero-current-switching (ZCS) zone, the LLC should work in above resonant frequency region ($f_s > f_0$).



Fig. 4.1 DC characteristic of the LLC resonant converter

However, as shown in Fig. 4.2, if the start-up switching frequency (f_s) is not high enough as in [A.38-A.49], large voltage and current stress can happen at the start-up moment. Otherwise, as shown in Fig. 4.3, if the LLC starts up with a higher frequency [A.40-A.41], at the beginning, the voltage and current stress will be small. However, during the soft start-up process, if f_s decreases too quickly, large voltage and current stress can still happen, which will trigger the over-currentprotection. As a result, f_s will increase a bit to limit the stress, and then decreases smoothly to finish the soft start process. If f_s decreases slowly, the stress will stay small, but the output voltage will build up slowly, which means, the soft start-up process will take much longer.



Fig. 4.2 Soft start-up with a low switching frequency



Fig. 4.3 Soft start-up with a high switching frequency

Besides the frequency control, phase-shifted control can be used in full-bridge LLC to limit the voltage and current stress during the soft start process. Fig. 4.4 shows steady state waveforms when $f_s=2f_0$ with $\pi/2$ phase shift. For the leading leg (Q₁ and Q₃), it is easy to realize ZVS, since the resonant current is large at the turn-off moment. However, for the lagging leg (Q₂ and Q₄), it



is hard to achieve ZVS due to the lower current to charge the junction capacitors at the turn-off instant.

Fig. 4.4 Phase-shifted control in full-bridge LLC ($f_s=2f_0, \Phi=\pi/2$)

Under the normal operation condition ($f_s=f_0$), at each switching instant, the resonant current i_{Lr} is equal to the magnetizing current i_{Lm} . The dead-time is designed to realize ZVS by charging and discharging the MOSFET junction capacitors with $i_{ZVS}=i_{Lm}$. If the switching instant current is smaller than i_{Lm} , ZVS cannot be fully achieved. As shown in Fig. 4.5, when mapping the steady state resonant voltage and current in Fig. 4.4 to the state plane, the lagging leg switching instants locate in the ZVS lost zone.



Fig. 4.5 State-trajectory of phase-shifted control ($f_s=2f_0, \Phi=\pi/2$)

Fig. 4.6 shows the simulated soft start-up process with the phase-shifted control. Initially, the maximum switching frequency is limited to $2f_0$, and the shifted phase is maximum (i.e. $\Phi=\pi$). As the shifted phase decreases, the resonant voltage v_{Cr} , resonant current i_{Lr} and output voltage Vo increase smoothly, and there is no stress. However, at the start-up moment, the whole trajectory is in the ZVS lost zone, because i_{Lr} is too small to achieve ZVS. In addition, in the start-up process, for the lagging leg switches, it is hard to fully realize ZVS due to the small switching current.



Fig. 4.6 Soft start-up with phase-shifted control

Therefore, an optimal control is required for the LLC soft start-up. The resonant voltage and current stress should be limited, the output voltage should be built up quickly and smoothly, and the ZVS of all switches should be guaranteed.

4.2 Optimal Switching Patterns Settling Initial Condition

To limit the stress, a resonant current limitation band is set. During the soft start-up, all current stress is limited to this band, and thus, the resonant voltage stress is limited as well. As shown in Fig. 4.7, under the steady state, when LLC operates near the resonant frequency point, the current is sinusoid. When the LLC starts up in above resonant frequency region, the initial current is triangle.



Fig. 4.7 Waveform difference under steady-state and start-up

To guarantee the LLC is operating in the safe zone, from the loss point of view, the same RMS value of sinusoid and triangle waveforms is desired. Thus, the current limitation band can be determined as

$$I_{MAX} = \frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peak}, \tag{4.1}$$

where I_{peak} is the peak resonant current under the full-load steady state. As shown in Fig. 4.8, on the state plane, the red circle represents the full-load steady-state trajectory, with center (0.5, 0) and radius I_{peakN} . The up and bottom limits as in (4.1) determine the current limitation band. The subscript *N* means the normalized value.

At the start-up moment, there is no energy in the resonant tank, which means that the resonant inductor current and the capacitor voltage both are zero (i.e. $i_{Lr}=0$, $v_{Cr}=0$). Thus, on the state plane, the initial point is (0, 0). Before running, the LLC output voltage is zero (i.e. $V_o=0$). Fig. 4.8 shows the equivalent circuit at the start-up moment.



Fig. 4.8 Equivalent circuits when LLC starts up



Fig. 4.9 Initial trajectories within the symmetrical current limiting band

As shown in Fig. 4.9, when the LLC firstly starts up, the up-side switch Q_1 conducts, going through the partial circle with center (1, 0) from the initial point (0, 0). By limiting i_{Lr} to the current band, when it hits the up-limit (+ I_{MAXN}), Q_1 is turned off. After that, Q_2 is turned on, and the center of the trajectory circle changes to (0, 0) as illustrated in Fig. 4.9. When the trajectory hits the bottom limit (- I_{MAXN}), Q_2 is turned off, and then Q_1 conducts again. Since the initial point

is (0, 0), if within the symmetrical band (\pm _{MAXN}), from the graphic trajectory, the state variables are fixed to these two partial circles, which are far away from the final steady-state circle with center (0.5, 0).

Then the energy transports to the load gradually, and the output voltage V_o starts to increase. Compared with two modes in Fig. 4.8 at the start-up moment, there will be four operation modes as shown in Fig. 4.10. From the state-plane, previous two centers (0, 0) and (1, 0) will split into four centers such as (- V_{oN} , 0), (V_{oN} , 0), (1- V_{oN} , 0) and (1+ V_{oN} , 0) when V_o increases, and trajectory is made up of four partial circles as shown in Fig. 4.11. By limiting i_{Lr} to the symmetrical current band, the trajectory will gradually approach to the steady state circle.



Fig. 4.10 Four operation modes when V_o increases



Fig. 4.11 Trajectory movement as Vo increases

However, as shown in Fig. 4.12, if limiting the resonant current i_{Lr} to the symmetrical band, as the output voltage increases, it takes lots of switching cycles to settle the resonant capacitor voltage to $V_{in}/2$. The corresponding trajectory is shown in Fig. 4.13.



Fig. 4.12 Simulated time-domain waveforms of initial condition settling within symmetrical band


Fig. 4.13 State-trajectory within the symmetrical band to settle initial condition

Therefore, an unsymmetrical current limiting band is employed to speed the resonant capacitor voltage settling. As shown in Fig. 4.14, to fulfill ZVS, the low limit is set to be the switching instant current under the steady state (i.e. $-I_{Lm}$). The simulated time-domain waveform and state-trajectory are shown in Fig. 4.15. Obviously, within the unsymmetrical band, the initial state variables will converge to (0.5, 0) quickly.



Fig. 4.14 Initial trajectories within the unsymmetrical current limiting band



Fig. 4.15 Simulated time-domain waveform and state trajectory with unsymmetrical band



Fig. 4.16 Calculation of the optimal switch pattern in the unsymmetrical band

Based on the graphic trajectory analysis as shown in Fig. 4.16, the optimal pulse widths of Q_1 and Q_2 to settle the initial condition can be calculated below.

From [A.33], when $f_s=f_0$, the expression of peak value (I_{peakN}) of the resonant current is

$$I_{peakN} = \frac{1}{4} \frac{V_o}{nR_L} \sqrt{\frac{n^4 R_L^2 T^2}{L_m^2} + 4\pi^2} / \frac{V_{in}}{Z}, \qquad (4.2)$$

where n is the transformer turn ratio, R_L is the full-load resistor, and T is the resonant period, L_m is the magnetizing inductor, $Z = \sqrt{L_r/C_r}$ is the resonant tank impedance.

Thus, according to (4.1) and (4.2), the current limitation band \pm_{MAXN} can be predetermined.

As shown in Fig. 4.16, Q_1 conducts first. On the state plane, since the radius of Q_1 trajectory circle is 1 (i.e. $\rho_1=1$), the conduction angle α can be calculated as

$$\alpha = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} \middle/ \rho_1 \right) = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} \right).$$
(4.3)

To determine Q_1 first pulse width, convert the state-plane angle α to the time-domain conduction time ΔT_1 :

$$\Delta T_1 = \frac{\alpha}{\omega_0},\tag{4.4}$$

where ω_0 is the resonant frequency $\omega_0 = 1/\sqrt{L_r C_r}$.

From the state plane shown in Fig. 4.16, the radius of Q_2 partial circle (ρ_2) can be calculated as

$$\rho_{2} = \sqrt{\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^{2} + \left(1 - \sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^{2}}\right)^{2}} = \sqrt{2 - 2\sqrt{1 - \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^{2}}.$$
(4.5)

Thus Q_2 conduction angle β is

$$\beta = \beta_1 + \beta_2 = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} / \rho_2 \right) + \sin^{-1} \left(I_{LmN} / \rho_2 \right), \tag{4.6}$$

where I_{LmN} is the normalized current at the switching instant under the steady-state operation, that is,

$$I_{LmN} = \frac{nV_o}{L_m} \cdot \frac{T}{4} / \frac{V_{in}}{Z}.$$
(4.7)

Similarly, converting the state-plane angle β to the time-domain, the first pulse width of Q₂, that is the conduction time ΔT_2 , can be estimated as

$$\Delta T_2 = \frac{\beta}{\omega_0}.\tag{4.8}$$

As this process continues, the left pulse widths of Q_1 and Q_2 as shown in Fig. 4.15 are calculated step-by-step, until the resonant capacitor voltage has been built up close to $V_{in}/2$.

In order to settle the initial condition quickly, the one-cycle control is proposed as shown in Fig. 4.17. With similar calculation steps from (4.1) to (4.8), after Q_1 and Q_2 conduct for one switching cycle, the resonant capacitor voltage can be built to $V_{in}/2$ in the minimum time. However, when compared with unsymmetrical band settling as in Fig. 4.14, there will be a bit

more current stress. In order to accelerate the converging process to $V_{in}/2$, while reducing the current stress, a slope band is applied as shown in Fig. 4.18.



Fig. 4.17 Initial condition settling with one-cycle approach



Fig. 4.18 Initial condition settling with slope-band approach

4.3 Optimal Trajectory Control during Soft Start-up

After settling the initial condition by building the resonant capacitor voltage to $V_{in}/2$, the current limitation band is changed to be symmetrical (\pm_{MAXN}) to maximally transport the energy. At the beginning, since the output voltage has not been built up yet (i.e. $V_0=0$), the centers of the trajectory circles locate at (0, 0) and (1, 0) respectively. To limit the resonant current i_{Lr} into the symmetrical band, two partial circles could be uniquely determined as shown in Fig. 4.19. And the conduction angle φ could be determined as:

$$\varphi = \tan^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} \middle/ 0.5 \right). \tag{4.9}$$



Fig. 4.19 Optimal switching frequency after settling the initial condition

At this moment, the conduction time of Q_1 and Q_2 is the same, which is

$$T_1 = T_2 = \frac{2\varphi}{\omega_0}.$$
 (4.10)

Thus, after building the resonant capacitor voltage to $V_{in}/2$, the initial switching frequency at the start-up moment can be determined as

$$f_{ss_ini} = \frac{1}{T_1 + T_2}.$$
(4.11)

The corresponding time-domain waveform is shown in Fig. 4.20. The unsymmetrical band is set to build the resonant capacitor voltage to $V_{in}/2$ as described in Section 4.2. After that, the current limitation is changed to the symmetrical band. The optimal start-up frequency is determined from (4.9) to (4.11). The resonant current i_{Lr} is well limited to the pre-determined band.



Fig. 4.20 Optimal trajectory control at the start-up moment

When the soft start-up continues, the output voltage V_o starts to increase smoothly. There will be four operation modes as shown in Fig. 4.10. By limiting i_{Lr} into the symmetrical current band, the trajectory is uniquely determined as well, made up of four partial circles as shown in Fig. 4.21.



Fig. 4.21 Optimal trajectory control in the current limitation band as V_{o} increases

Knowing the trajectory when the output voltage increases, the optimal frequency can be determined as below.

The radius of the trajectory circle in Stage I (ρ_{M1}) is

$$\rho_{M1} = \left(\left(1 - nV_{oN} \right) - 0.5 \right) + \Delta V_N, \tag{4.12}$$

where ΔV_N is the distance from (0.5, 0) to the point where the trajectory hits the V_{crN} axis.

The radius of the trajectory circle in Stage II ($\rho_{M2})$ is

$$\rho_{M2} = \left(0.5 - \left(-nV_{oN}\right)\right) + \Delta V_{N}. \tag{4.13}$$

Solve two triangles in Fig. 4.21, since

$$\left(V_{AN} - (1 - nV_{oN})\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^{2} = \rho_{M1}^{2}, \qquad (4.14)$$

$$\left(V_{AN} - \left(-nV_{oN}\right)\right)^{2} + \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^{2} = \rho_{M2}^{2}, \qquad (4.15)$$

where V_{AN} is the normalized capacitor voltage at point A. From (4.12) to (4.15), ΔV_N is calculated as

$$\Delta V_N = \sqrt{\frac{1}{4} + \frac{\left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}}I_{peakN}\right)^2}{1 - 4\left(nV_{oN}\right)^2}} - 0.5.$$
(4.16)

Therefore, knowing the output voltage V_o , the radiuses ρ_{M1} and ρ_{M2} is determined from (4.12), (4.13) and (4.16).

After that, the conduction angle θ in Stage I and δ in Stage II are

$$\theta = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} \middle/ \rho_{M1} \right), \tag{4.17}$$

$$\delta = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{\sqrt{3}}{\sqrt{2}} I_{peakN} \middle/ \rho_{M2} \right).$$
(4.18)

Thus, the corresponding optimal switching frequency is

$$f_{s_opt} = \frac{1}{\frac{2(\theta + \delta)}{\omega_0}}.$$
(4.19)

The simulated time-domain waveform with the optimal switching frequency in (4.19) is shown in Fig. 4.22, where the resonant current is well limited to the band (\pm_{MAX}).



Fig. 4.22 Time-domain waveform of optimal control as Vo increases

To sum up, setting the current limitation band \pm_{MAXN} , and then sensing the output voltage V_{oN} , the optimal switching frequency f_{s_opt} can be determined during the soft start-up process.

The output voltage gradually increases as the start-up continues. When it is close to the steady state, as shown in Fig. 4.23, the resonant current waveform changes to a sinusoid shape from a triangle one. Thus, in order to keep the same RMS value, the current limitation band

should decrease step-by-step, finally to I_{peak} . The corresponding trajectory is shown in Fig. 4.24. The current limitation band changes from I_{MAXN} to I'_{MAXN} , finally to I_{peakN} when it reaches the full-load steady state. Similarly, based on the graphic trajectory analysis, the optimal frequency can be determined as well.



Fig. 4.23 Time domain waveform of reduced band as V_o approaches to steady state



Fig. 4.24 Optimal trajectory with reduced band as V_o approaches to steady state

Figure 4.25 shows the whole process of the proposed optimal soft start-up. Initially, the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} is built to $V_{in}/2$ quickly as discussed in Section II. Then, the symmetrical current limitation band (\pm_{MAX}) is employed. By sensing the output voltage V_o , the optimal switching frequency is determined based on the state-trajectory calculation. As the output voltage increases, the current limitation band decreases gradually to the full-load steady state I_{peakN} . There is no current stress during the start-up, and V_o is built up smoothly and quickly.



Fig. 4.25 Whole process of the optimal soft start-up

When it comes to the full-bridge LLC resonant topology, at the start up moment, there are two operation stages as shown in Fig. 4.26. It is different from the half-bridge LLC, since there is no $V_{in}/2$ dc bias on the resonant capacitor in the full-bridge topology. At the start-up moment, the

trajectory centers are at point (1, 0) and (-1, 0) respectively. Under the full-load steady state, the trajectory center locates at (0, 0) as shown in Fig. 4.27. Similarly, the current band is set, and then the optimal frequency control is employed to limit the resonant current into the band.

To settle the initial condition, the one-cycle control is presented. Different from the halfbridge LLC, the resonant current has no over-shoot as compared with Fig. 4.17, since the initial point (0, 0) is insider the steady state trajectory.



Fig. 4.26 Equivalent circuit of full-bridge LLC at start-up moment



Fig. 4.27 Initial state-trajectory with one-cycle control for full-bridge LLC

The pulse widths of the first switching cycle could be determined based on the state-plane drawing. Fig. 4.28 shows the corresponding time-domain simulation: the first switching cycle is tuned to settle the resonant capacitor initial condition, and then the optimal switching frequency is determined within the symmetrical current limitation band.



Fig. 4.28 Simulation of one-cycle control for full-bridge LLC

4.4 Over-Load Protection with Optimal Control

The short through is the worst over-load condition. When shoot-through happens, the output capacitor voltage will discharge to zero in a short period of time as shown in Fig. 4.29.



Fig. 4.29 Shoot-though of LLC resonant converter

Different from the LLC soft start-up process where the output voltage V_o is built up to the steady-state value from zero, under the over-load condition, V_o will quickly decrease from the steady-state value. It is a reverse process of soft start-up. When over-load happens, from the state plane, the center of steady state circle will split. If limiting the resonant current i_{Lr} to the same band, the optimal switching frequency can be determined as the soft start-up process. As a result, the energy in the resonant tank can be limited.



Fig. 4.30 State-trajectory of over-load protection with current limitation band

Fig. 4.31 and 4.32 show the simulated time-domain waveforms and corresponding state trajectory with optimal protection. The output voltage decreases as the shoot-through happens.

The switching frequency responses quickly based on the state-plane calculation to limit the trajectory loci to the current band.



Fig. 4.31 Simulated time-domain response of shoot-through protection



Fig. 4.32 State-trajectory of shoot-through protection

4.5 Experimental Results

To have a comparison, an industry evaluation board of a 300W 400V/12V half-bridge LLC resonant converter [A.39] is tested as shown in Figs. 4.33 and 4.34. The main converter parameters are the same with Table 3.1 in Chapter 3. Since the initial switching frequency (f_{ss_ini}) is not high enough, there is large current and voltage stress at the start-up moment as shown in Fig. 4.33. During the start-up process, f_s is not well controlled, so the energy transporting to the output is not optimized. As shown in Fig. 4.34, at the beginning, the output voltage V_o increases fast, and then it slows down. The whole soft start process approaching to the full-load steady state takes about 23ms.

Figure 4.35 shows the experimental trajectory when mapping the normalized time-domain resonant current i_{LrN} and voltage V_{CrN} to the state plane. Compared with the full-load steady state, the current and voltage stress is much higher.



Fig. 4.33 Large voltage and current stresses at the start-up moment



Fig. 4.34 Initial soft start-up process with a commercial controller



Fig. 4.35 Soft start-up experimental trajectory with a commercial controller

The optimal soft start-up is realized by a digital controller which is built in a Cyclone III FPGA.

With the unsymmetrical band as described in Section 4.2, when the LLC starts up, the optimal pulse widths of Q_1 and Q_2 driving signals are estimated. Therefore, the resonant capacitor reaches to $V_{in}/2$ quickly without any spike as shown in Fig. 4.36.

After that, the LLC starts up from $2.3f_0$ by (4.11). As the start-up continues, the output voltage increases, and the optimal switching frequency is determined by (4.19). By applying these optimal switching frequencies, the experimental time-domain waveform is shown in Fig. 4.37. The resonant current i_{Lr} is well controlled to the current limitation band (\pm_{Max}) as designed, and the output voltage increases much more smoothly and quickly when compared with the performance of a commercial controller.



Fig. 4.36 Initial condition settling with unsymmetrical current band



Fig. 4.37 Proposed optimal soft start-up

Figure 4.38 shows the corresponding experimental trajectory. During the soft start-up, the resonant current is well controlled to the band. Compared with Fig. 4.35, there is no current and voltage stress.



Fig. 4.38 Experimental trajectory of the optimal soft start-up

4.6 Conclusion

An optimal soft start-up process for the LLC resonant converter is proposed based on the graphical state-trajectory analysis. To settle the initial condition, the unsymmetrical-band approach, slop-band control, and one-cycle control are investigated. Then, by sensing the output voltage, the optimal frequency is determined within a current limitation band. Therefore, no current and voltage stress in the resonant tank is guaranteed during the soft start-up. Meanwhile, the output voltage is built up quickly and smoothly. By applying the optimal soft start-up algorithm reversely, the resonant current and voltage stress can be limited under the over-load protection.

Chapter 5. Efficiency Improvement I: Optimal Burst Mode for Light-Load Efficiency

In this chapter, a novel burst mode control for the LLC resonant converter is proposed to improve the light load efficiency. Based on the state-plane trajectory analysis, during the burst on-time, a three pulse switching pattern is implemented. The first pulse width is optimized to settle to the steady state of the highest efficiency load condition in the minimal time. And the next two pulse operation follows the steady-state trajectory of this highest efficiency load. Thus, the best burst efficiency can be achieved. When it comes to the LED PWM dimming application, a similar optimal switching pattern is employed. Thus, the full-load steady state is tracked in one-pulse time. The overall efficiency has been improved in the whole dimming range. Moreover, under lower dimming conditions, the LED intensity can be controlled more precisely.

5.1 Introduction

Today, with the explosive increase of consumer electronics and IT equipment, the efficiency requirement of power conversion circuits is becoming higher and higher. Moreover, the efficiency demand is not only focused on the heavy load but also on the light load. The ever increasing efficiency requirements defined by 80Plus [A.13], Energy Star [A.14], Climate Savers Computing [A.15], and European Code of Conduct, pose a major design challenge.

The LLC resonant converter is becoming more and more popular for its high efficiency, because of both zero-voltage-switching (ZVS) for primary side switches and zero-current-

switching (ZCS) for secondary side rectifiers. However, the light load efficiency still cannot meet the increasingly strict requirements, since certain load-independent losses such as driving losses possess a much higher ratio under the light load condition.

Variable frequency control methods have been widely used to improve the light load efficiency in PWM converters, e.g. PWM/PFM control [C.1] [C.2], constant and adaptive on time control [C.3], and burst mode control [C.4] [C.5]. The idea is to decrease the switching frequency or equivalent switching frequency, to reduce these load independent losses. To the LLC resonant converter, the burst mode control has been used to improve the light load efficiency, by periodically blocking the switch gate driving signals V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} as shown in Fig. 5.1.



Fig. 5.1 Normal operation mode vs. burst mode

In the hysteresis burst mode [A.38-A.44] [C.5], the switches are periodically on and off, determined by the comparison between the feedback control command (f_{FB}) and the hysteresis band. When the load decreases, f_{FB} increases, that is, the LLC switching frequency (f_s) increases to regulate the output voltage. Until f_{FB} hits the hysteresis band ceiling, the LLC enters the burst mode, and the switches stop working. Then f_{FB} will decrease correspondingly. When it hits the band bottom, the switches start to work again. Although the implementation is simple, using f_{FB}

to determine the light load condition is not accurate. Since it is influenced by the input voltage V_{in} and resonant tank parameters such as resonant inductor L_r , magnetizing inductor L_m , and resonant capacitor C_r . With different V_{in} and tank parameters, the light load conditions triggering the burst mode are different. Moreover, the design of the hysteresis band is critical. Large band induces a large output voltage ripple, and small band leads to low burst efficiency.

[C.6] [C.7] proposed the burst mode for the best light-load efficiency. Fig. 5.2 shows the typical efficiency curve of a LLC resonant converter. The best efficiency is achieved at I_{OPT} load point. When it comes to the light load I_{light} , if the burst duty D_{burst} is determined as

$$D_{burst} = \frac{T_{on}}{T_{burst}} = \frac{I_{light}}{I_{OPT}},$$
(5.1)

where T_{on} is the burst-on time, T_{burst} the burst period as shown in Fig. 5.1, the LLC will treat the equivalent load as I_{OPT} during the burst-on time. Thus, the best efficiency can be achieved under the light load conditions.



Fig. 5.2 Desired burst efficiency

However, it is not easy to fix to the optimal load (I_{OPT}) steady state during the burst on-time to achieve best efficiency. As illustrated in Fig. 5.3, there will be oscillated current in the resonant tank.



Fig. 5.3 Oscillated resonant current during the burst on-time

Different from the normal operation, the output voltage V_0 is regulated to be constant, in the burst mode, V_0 has a low frequency ripple as shown in Fig. 5.3. During the burst on-time, switches Q_1 and Q_2 conduct alternatively to charge the output capacitor, thus the output voltage is increased by ΔV_0 . When Q_1 conducts as Mode I, the source voltage across the resonant tank will change to V_{in} -n V_0 -n ΔV_0 ; and when Q_2 conducts as Mode IV, the source voltage across the resonant tank will change to nV_0 +n ΔV_0 . Therefore, in the state plane, during the burst on-time as shown in Fig. 5.4, center O_1 at Mode I will move to left, from (0.5, 0) to (0.5-n ΔV_{0N} , 0); and O_2 at Mode IV will move to right, from (0.5, 0) to (0.5+n ΔV_{0N} , 0). As a result, the circle radius ρ will decrease step by step, which means that the instantaneous energy of the resonant tank will shrink step by step. From the time-domain waveforms, as V_o increases, and resonant current i_{Lr} will decrease step by step as shown in Fig. 5.3, equivalently from the heavy load to the light load, never fixing at the I_{OPT} steady state as desired. This dynamic oscillation increases I_{RMS} value, and then reduces the burst efficiency.



Fig. 5.4 Oscillated circles during the burst on-time

Therefore, an optimal burst mode is needed to keep the LLC always operating at the best efficiency point during the burst on-time. From the state-trajectory analysis, the output voltage variation firstly should be minimized to avoid the oscillation.

5.2 Burst Mode with Optimal Switching Pattern

5.2.1 Minimal optimal three-pulse switching pattern

In order to avoid this shrinking current, the output voltage variation ΔV_o should be minimized. From the state plane point of view, two circle centers O_1 and O_2 should be kept as closed as possible. Thus, the burst trajectory will locate in the vicinity of I_{OPT} steady state, to ensure high efficiency.

One effective way to minimize ΔV_0 is reducing the burst on-time. Fig. 5.5 shows the minimal burst on-time solution with the optimal three pulse pattern. The first pulse is fine tuned to settle to the steady state of the highest efficiency load I_{OPT} within one pulse time. And the next two switching pulses operate near the resonant frequency point ($f_s=f_0$) to follow the i_{OPT} steady-state trajectory. Therefore, the high efficiency could be achieved.



Fig. 5.5 Optimal three-pulse switching pattern during the minimal burst on-time

The simulated waveform of the optimized three pulse pattern is shown in Fig. 5.6. When Q_1 is turned off at t_3 moment, the capacitor voltage v_{Cr} is resonant to a high value. During the burst-off time, both Q_1 and Q_2 are off and the circuit is lossless, so v_{Cr} stays constant. Then Q_1 is

turned on again at time t_0 , and the voltage across the transformer primary side is approximately equal to V_{in} - v_{Cr} , which is smaller than nV_0 . Thus, from t_0 to t_1 , the secondary side doesn't conduct, and L_m , L_r and C_r form the series resonant tank as Mode III described in Chapter 2. Fig. 5.7 state-plane trajectory shows that from time t_0 to t_1 , it goes through ellipse trajectory at Mode III.



Fig. 5.6 Simulated minimal burst-on time with optimal pulse pattern

As shown in Fig. 5.7, at t_1 moment when the ellipse locus touches the I_{OPT} steady state trajectory, Q_1 is turned off immediately. And then Q_2 and Q_1 are turned on at the resonant frequency as Mode IV and Mode I. It follows the I_{OPT} steady-state circle. Since only with one full resonant period during the burst on-time, ΔV_0 is minimized. The circle centers O_1 and O_2 almost locate at (0.5, 0), thus the I_{OPT} steady-state could be tracked well, ensuring high light load efficiency.



Fig. 5.7 State plane trajectory of the optimal burst pattern

Based on Fig. 5.7 state plane, the first pulse width from t_0 to t_1 could be estimated. By tuning the first pulse width, the next two pulses will track the I_{OPT} steady state trajectory. Thus, when the burst on-time ends at the t_3 moment, the resonant capacitor voltage $v_{Cr}(t_3)$ is the same as Q_1 is turned off under the I_{OPT} steady state in the normal operation. Thus, the normalized resonant capacitor voltage at t_3 moment can be calculated from (3.5):

$$v_{CrN}(t_3) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{OPT}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(5.2)

After de-normalization with the voltage factor V_{in},

$$v_{Cr}(t_3) = \frac{\pi}{2} \cdot \frac{I_{OPT}}{n} \cdot Z_0 + \frac{V_{in}}{2}, \qquad (5.3)$$

where the highest efficiency load condition I_{OPT} could be determined by the experiment test or the loss analysis.

During the burst-off time, because Q_1 and Q_2 both are off and the circuit is lossless, the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} stays constant. Then Q_1 is turned on again in the next burst cycle, the resonant capacitor voltage at t_0 moment is same with $v_{Cr}(t_3)$, that is,

$$v_{Cr}(t_0) = v_{Cr}(t_3). (5.4)$$

Besides, at time t_0 , the resonant inductor current i_{Lr} is zero as shown in Fig. 5.6:

$$i_{Lr}(t_0) = 0. (5.5)$$

From t_0 to t_1 , it follows the ellipse trajectory as Mode III. And t_1 is the connection point of the ellipse and the circle of the highest efficiency load I_{OPT} . From Fig. 5.7, at t_1 moment, the resonant capacitor voltage $v_{Cr}(t_1)$ can be approximated to be the maximum capacitor voltage, which could be derived from (3.1) and (3.2):

$$v_{Cr}(t_{1}) = v_{Cr_{MAX} \circledast_{i_{OPT}}} = (\rho + 0.5) \cdot V_{in} = \sqrt{2} I_{RMS} \cdot Z_{0} + \frac{V_{in}}{2}$$
$$= \frac{Z_{0}}{4} \sqrt{\frac{n^{2} V_{o}^{2} T^{2}}{L_{m}^{2}} + 4\pi^{2} \cdot \left(\frac{I_{OPT}}{n}\right)^{2}} + \frac{V_{in}}{2}.$$
(5.6)

Now knowing the initial conditions at t_0 as (5.3) (5.4) (5.5), final status at t_1 (5.6), and the equivalent resonance of Mode III (2.13), the first switching pulse width ($\Delta T=t_1-t_0$) can be solved as

$$\Delta T = \frac{\cos^{-1} \left(\frac{v_{Cr}(t_1) - V_{in}}{v_{Cr}(t_0) - V_{in}} \right)}{\omega_1}.$$
(5.7)

Furthermore, the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} could be sensed as shown in Fig. 5.8, and then compared with $V_{Cr_MAX@iOPT}$. Q_1 could be turned off when v_{Cr} hits the steady state trajectory of the highest efficiency load.



Fig. 5.8 Real-time tuning of the first pulse width by sensing v_{Cr}

To maintain this optimal three pulse pattern during the minimal burst-on time, when the load changes, the burst on-time T_{on} keeps constant, but the burst off-time T_{off} is modulated. As shown in Fig. 5.9, when the load increases, the T_{on} with the optimal three pulse pattern keeps constant, but T_{off} becomes smaller. Therefore, the high efficiency can be ensured. Moreover, the output voltage variation ΔV_o is always minimally maintained, and no additional low-pass filter is needed.



Fig. 5.9 Constant burst on-time implementation when the load changes

5.2.2 First pulse partial ZVS

With the proposed burst mode, by tracking the optimal trajectory, ZVS of second and third switching action is achieved. In order to further improve the efficiency, ZVS of first switching action is investigated.

During the off-time, both Q_1 and Q_2 are off, so switch junction capacitors C_{OSS1} and C_{OSS2} participate in the resonance with L_m and L_r as shown in Fig. 5.10. And the remaining resonant energy will be damped by the loop parasitic resistor R_p . With the constant burst on time implementation, if the load increases, the off time will be modulated to be small. As a result, the resonant current i_{Lr} hasn't been damped to zero yet within the short off time. From Fig. 5.11, when i_{Lr} passes through zero from negative to positive, the middle node voltage V_{dsQ2} just reaches the highest point. Thus, a zero crossing detector (ZCD) circuit is added to sense i_{Lr} zero crossing points. When the burst on time starts, trigger Q_1 turns on at the moment when i_{Lr} goes

through zero from negative to positive. Therefore, a partial ZVS of Q_1 is achieved to reduce first hard switching turn on loss.



Fig. 5.10 ZCD implementation for the first switch partial ZVS



Fig. 5.11 Partial ZVS realization

5.2.3 Constant burst on-time implementation

Fig. 5.12 shows the simplified control scheme of the proposed burst mode under light load conditions. As shown in Fig. 5.13, like the conventional constant on-time voltage mode, the

output voltage ripple is sensed. During the burst-off time, the LLC stops operating, and V_o will decrease. When it touches the control reference V_{ref} , the burst on-time is triggered, during which the optimized three pulse switching pattern is applied to track the steady state trajectory of the highest efficiency load (I_{OPT}). The first switching pulse width could be determined by (5.7) or real-time tuned by sensing resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} . The next two pulses operate at $f_s=f_0$, following the desired I_{OPT} steady-state trajectory, to ensure high efficiency.



Fig 5.12 Simple control blocks of the optimal burst mode



Fig. 5.13 Constant burst on-time implementation based on the output voltage ripple

As shown in Fig. 5.12, no high resolution Analog-to-Digital-Converter (ADC) is needed. Only two comparators are employed. One determines the burst-on time instant, and the other one determines the first pulse width, which could also be pre-calculated in (5.7).

5.2.4 Experimental results

The experiment is carried out on a 300W 400V/12V half bridge LLC resonant converter prototype. The hardware prototype is shown in Fig. 5.14. The main converter parameters are shown in Table 5.1. The proposed burst mode control is built in a Cyclone III FPGA using Verilog HDL.



Fig. 5.14 Hardware prototype

Designed parameters	Parameters Value
Resonant capacitor	10nF
Resonant inductor	5.6 µH
Transformer leakage inductor	2.1 µH
Transformer magnetizing inductor	100 µH
Transformer turns ratio	17:1:1
Primary side main switch	2×STB11NM60ND
Secondary side SR	2×BSC017N04NS
Output capacitor	440 μF

Table 5.1 The parameters of LLC resonant prototype

The highest efficiency load is experimentally measured near the 14A load region (full load is 25A). Fig. 5.15 shows the steady state waveform under 14A load condition (I_{OPT} =14A).



Fig. 5.15 Steady state waveform of the highest efficiency load (i_{OPT}=14A)

If implementing the burst mode proposed in [C.6], when the light load is 2A, the burst duty D_{burst} as in (5.1) is:
$$D_{burst} = \frac{T_{on}}{T_{burst}} = \frac{i_{Load}}{i_{OPT}} = \frac{2A}{14A} = \frac{1}{7}$$
(5.8)

If the burst period T_{burst} is set to be 100us (i.e. $f_{burst}=10$ kHz), the burst on-time T_{on} is 14us. Thus, during T_{on} , there will be a lot of switching pulses as shown in Fig. 5.16. As analyzed in Section 5.1, the larger T_{on} with a lot of switching cycles will increase the output voltage variation ΔV_{o} , producing the shrink current in the resonant tank. As a result, it cannot fix to the I_{OPT} steady state as desired.



Fig. 5.16 Shrinking current within large burst on-time

If employing the proposed burst mode with the minimal burst-on time, the first pulse width is calculated as in (5.7) with the parameters provided in Table 5.1:

$$\Delta T \approx \frac{T_0}{4},\tag{5.9}$$

which is about quarter resonant period. It also can be real-time tuned by comparing the resonant capacitor voltage v_c with the maximum resonant capacitor voltage under 14A load condition $V_{Cr, MAX@14A}$.

Fig. 5.17 shows the burst mode with the optimal three pulse pattern when the load is 2A. During the burst on-time T_{on} , the first switching pulse is tuned to settle to 14A steady state in one-pulse time. Then the LLC equivalently operates under the I_{OPT} steady state within the T_{on} duration.

If the first switching pulse is not optimized, as shown in Fig. 5.18, the I_{OPT} steady state cannot be tracked. As a result, there will be more RMS current in the resonant tank, which produces more conduction losses.



Fig. 5.17 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 2A



Fig. 5.18 Comparison between with and without 1st pulse width optimization

Fig. 5.19 shows that when the load increases to 4A, T_{on} with optimized three pulse pattern stays constant, but the burst off-time T_{off} decreases.



Fig. 5.19 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 4A

Fig. 5.20 shows that when the load decreases to 1A, T_{on} with optimized three pulse pattern still keeps the same, but the burst off-time T_{off} increases.



Fig. 5.20 Optimal burst mode under the light load of 1A

Due to the benefit of the minimal and constant burst on-time implementation, the output voltage ripple ΔV_0 is always minimized as shown in Figs. 5.17, 5.19 and 5.20, thus no additional low-pass filter is needed. With the optimal three pulse pattern, during the burst on-time, under all light load conditions, the LLC equivalently operates at I_{OPT} steady state. As a result, high efficiency can be accomplished.

As shown in Fig. 5.21, when burst off-time is short and i_{Lr} hasn't been damped to zero yet, with ZCD implementation, the first switch is turned on as the resonant current crosses zero, realizing the partial ZVS.



Fig. 5.21 Partial ZVS of the first switching action

Fig. 5.22 shows the experimental efficiency comparison. The LLC resonant converter can achieve a high efficiency within the middle and heavy load regions. But the light load efficiency is lower. By employing the optimal three pulse switching pattern, the highest efficiency can be achieved. Even under 0.4% full load (1.2W), the efficiency is still higher than 92% (The efficiency is tested without considering the FPGA losses, since the final target is the IC integration, whose power consuming is much less than the FPGA).

Based on the experimental measurement, when the load is lighter than 25% full load, the burst mode efficiency starts to become higher than the normal operation mode. Thus the optimized burst approach is employed as the load becomes lighter than 25% full load.



Fig. 5.22 Efficiency improvement with the proposed burst mode control

5.3 Optimal Switching Patterns for LED PWM Dimming

5.3.1 Introduction of PWM dimming for LLC LED driver

As a promising lighting source, LED have been widely used, because of high efficiency, eco-friendliness, long lifetime, good color rendering properties, etc [D.1-D.4]. In many applications, for example, display backlighting, indoor lighting and street lighting, the multi-channel LED structure is chosen from the cost-effective, reliability and safety concerns.

A single stage multi-channel constant current (MC³) LLC resonant LED driver is proposed in [A.19]. As shown in Fig. 5.23, the multiple transformer structure (primary windings are in series and secondary windings are in parallel) enables the cross-regulation by only controlling one LED channel [A.19]. With the voltage-doubler-rectifier configuration, each transformer can drive two LED strings at the same time, and hence reduces the transformer number by half. The



DC block capacitor (C_{dc}) is used to achieve precise current sharing between two neighboring LED channels.

Fig. 5.23 Single stage MC³ LLC resonant LED driver

Like the conventional LLC resonant converter, the switching frequency (f_s) is controlled to achieve different dimming ratios. Normally, under the full-load condition, the MC³ LLC resonant converter is designed to operate near the resonant frequency point $(f_s=f_0)$ to achieve the best efficiency. When the switching frequency f_s increases, the LED dimming ratio becomes low, that is, it comes to the light load condition. However, as shown in Fig. 5.24, the current gain becomes flat as f_s increases. Even push f_s to as high as 10 f_0 , only 15% full load dimming is achieved. Meanwhile, the efficiency as shown in Fig. 5.25 drops quickly as the dimming ratio decreases, since the switching loss and driving loss increases dramatically.



Fig. 5.24 DC characteristics with f_s controlled analog dimming



Fig. 5.25 Efficiency of f_s controlled analog dimming

Compared with the switching frequency controlled analog dimming, the PWM dimming approach can achieve much lower dimming ratio by reducing the PWM duty cycle. Moreover, the converter always operates under the full-load condition during the PWM dimming on-time, thus the overall efficiency will be higher. In addition, there is no chromaticity shift when using the PWM dimming [D.5].

The control scheme for the LED PWM dimming is shown in Fig. 5.26. The PWM dimming frequency is set to be 200Hz, so the discontinue PWM signal is not visible to the human eyes. $V_{S1,2,3,4}$ are same with the PWM dimming signal.



Fig. 5.26 MC³ LLC resonant LED driver with PWM dimming control

As shown in Fig. 5.27, when the PWM dimming signal is on, the MC^3 LLC resonant converter is regulated to provide the constant full-load current (I_{Full}) to the LED strings. When the PWM dimming signal is off, the MC^3 LLC stops working, and the LED lights become off as well. Therefore, by controlling the PWM duty cycle, the LED intensity can be controlled to get the needed dimming ratio:



 $I_{1,2,3,4} = I_{Full} \cdot D.$ (5.10)

Fig. 5.27 LED PWM dimming

5.3.2 Dynamic oscillation with conventional PWM dimming

However, due to the fast dynamic characteristic of the LLC resonant tank, there will be serious oscillations when switching between the working status and the idle status. Fig. 5.28 shows the simulation waveforms during the PWM dimming on-time. In this switching pattern, the up-switch Q_1 is first turned on and last turned off, in order to reduce the first switching turn-on loss at the moment when the LLC starts to work [C.6]. Since when Q_1 is last turned off, the resonant capacitor voltage would be charged to a high value $v_{Cr}(t_n)$. During the PWM dimming off-time, v_{Cr} stays constant (i.e. $v_{Cr}(t_0)=v_{Cr}(t_n)$). Then Q_1 is firstly turned on again, the drain to source voltage of Q_1 is approximately equal to $V_{in}-v_{Cr}(t_0)$, which is relatively small. Thus, the first hard switching turn-on loss is minimized.

However, as shown in Fig. 5.28, there are dynamic oscillations when the MC^3 LLC LED driver starts to work from the idle status. As a result, the large RMS value of the resonant current

 (i_{Lr}) will make additional conduction loss. Moreover, the oscillation on the output current will reduce the control accuracy of the LED intensity.



Fig. 5.28 Dynamic oscillation when MC³ LLC starts to work

To analyze this dynamic oscillation, the time-domain v_{Cr} and i_{Lr} shown in Fig. 5.28 are mapped to the state plane in Fig. 5.29. The red circle represents the full-load steady-state trajectory. When Q_1 is firstly turned on, the secondary side will not conduct [C.6]. As a result, the magnetizing inductor (L_m) will be in the resonance, which represents the Mode III. It is a partial ellipse trajectory on the state plane, as shown in Fig. 5.29 with green color. This firstpulse ellipse trajectory will cross the desired full-load steady state; then results in serious dynamic oscillation by pulling the larger circles to the smaller steady-state red circle.



Fig. 5.29 State-trajectory of the dynamic oscillation

5.3.3 First-pulse tuning optimal PWM dimming

To reduce the dynamic oscillation, the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern is proposed, that is, during the PWM dimming on-time, the first-pulse width of Q_1 gate driving signal is tuned to just hit the full-load steady circle rather than crossing it. Fig. 5.30 and Fig. 5.31 show the simulated time-domain waveform and corresponding state-trajectory with the optimal switching pattern. By tuning the first-pulse width, the state variables (v_{Cr} and i_{Lr}) will track to the full-load steady state within the minimum time. There is almost no dynamic oscillation inside the LLC resonant tank. The lower RMS current will improve the overall efficiency. Moreover, the output current is tuned to be flat, thus the LED intensity can be controlled perfectly.



Fig. 5.30 Time-domain waveforms of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern



Fig. 5.31 State-trajectory of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern

The Q_1 first-pulse width from time t_0 to t_1 can be estimated. By tuning the first-pulse width, the full-load steady-state will be tracked quickly. Thus, when the PWM dimming on-time ends, the resonant capacitor voltage $v_{Cr}(t_n)$ is equal to the full-load steady-state value when Q_1 is turned off, that is,

$$v_{CrN}(t_n) = \pi \cdot \frac{I_{full}}{n} \cdot \frac{1}{V_{in}/Z_0} + 0.5.$$
(5.11)

During the PWM dimming off-time, because both Q_1 and Q_2 are off and the circuit is lossless, the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} stays constant. Then, Q_1 is firstly turned on again in

the next PWM dimming cycle, the resonant capacitor voltage at t_0 moment is the same with $v_{Cr}(t_n)$:

$$v_{CrN}(t_0) = v_{CrN}(t_n).$$
 (5.12)

From t_0 to t_1 , it follows the ellipse trajectory of Mode III. And t_1 is the connection point of the ellipse and the circle of the full-load steady state. From Fig. 5.31, at t_1 moment, the resonant capacitor voltage $v_{CrN}(t_1)$ can be approximated to be the maximum value, that is,

$$v_{CrN}(t_1) = v_{CrN MAX @ Ifull} = \rho + 0.5,$$
(5.13)

which could be derived from (3.2):

If the resonant current i_{Lr} is normalized with V_{in}/Z_1 , where $Z_1 = \sqrt{(L_r + L_m)/C_r}$, the ellipse trajectory of Mode III will change to a circle with center (1, 0) in the new state plane as shown in Fig. 5.32.

Thus, the conduction angle α on the state plane is

$$\alpha = \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{1 - v_{CrN}(t_1)}{1 - v_{CrN}(t_0)} \right).$$
(5.14)

Converting the state-plane angle α to the time-domain conduction time:

$$T_{12} = t_1 - t_0 = \frac{\alpha}{\omega_1} = \alpha \cdot \sqrt{(L_r + L_m)C_r},$$
(5.15)

where ω_1 is the resonant frequency of L_m+L_r with C_r .



Fig. 5.32 Transformation from ellipse trajectory of Mode III to a circle

Therefore, by tuning Q_1 first-pulse width from (5.12) to (5.15), the dynamic oscillation could be eliminated when PWM dimming on-time starts as verified in Fig. 5.30 and Fig. 5.31.

Due to the variation of temperature and the aging of inductances and capacitances, the estimated first-pulse width might be different from the desired value. Figures 5.33 and 5.34 show the simulation results if Q_1 first-pulse width is 20% larger or 20% smaller. There are some oscillations in the resonant tank and the LED output current. In terms of the state plane, there are a bit more oscillations near the full-load steady-state circle. But the dynamic performance is still much better than the result without any optimal tuning.



Fig. 5.33 Q_1 first-pulse width is 20% larger than the desired one



Fig. 5.34 Q_1 first-pulse width is 20% smaller than the desired one

5.3.4 Last-pulse tuning optimal PWM dimming

Similarly, during the PWM dimming on-time, compared with the first-pulse tuning, the lastpulse could be tuned as well to achieve the same good performance. As shown in Fig. 5.35 and 5.36, Q_1 last-pulse width is reduced. As a result, the initial condition $v_{Cr}(t_0)$ will be changed when the MC³ LLC starts to work again in the next PWM dimming cycle. From Fig. 5.36 state trajectory, by tuning the last-pulse width, the full-load steady-state circle can be reached in onepulse time.



Fig. 5.35 Time-domain waveforms of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern



Fig. 5.36 State-trajectory of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern

Based on the graphic state-plane analysis, Q_1 last-pulse width could be estimated as well. Since Q_1 first-pulse width keeps unchanged, it is half of the resonant period (i.e. $T_0/2$). During this first pulse, the magnetizing inductor L_m is in the resonance of Mode III. It will go through a partial ellipse trajectory as shown in Fig. 5.36. If changing the current normalizing factor to V_{in}/Z_1 , this ellipse trajectory will change to partial circle with the center (1, 0) as illustrated in Fig. 5.32. Since the first-pulse duration is $T_0/2$, the corresponding conduction angle α on the new state plane is:

$$\alpha = \frac{T_0}{2} \cdot \omega_1 = \frac{2\pi\sqrt{L_r C_r}}{2} \cdot \frac{1}{\sqrt{(L_m + L_r)C_r}} = \pi\sqrt{\frac{L_r}{(L_m + L_r)}}$$
(5.16)

Thus, the coordinate of point B' $(v_{CrN}(t_1), i_{LrN'}(t_1))$ as shown in Fig.5.32 is

$$v_{CrN}(t_1) = 1 - (1 - v_{CrN}(t_0)) \cdot \cos \alpha,$$
 (5.17)

$$i_{LrN'}(t_1) = \left(1 - v_{CrN}(t_0)\right) \cdot \sin \alpha, \qquad (5.18)$$

where N' represents the current normalizing factor of V_{in}/Z_1 .

Converting the current normalizing factor to V_{in}/Z_0 , the normalized resonant current at B point is

$$i_{LrN}(t_1) = i_{LrN'}(t_1) \cdot \frac{Z_0}{Z_1}.$$
(5.19)

As shown in Fig. 5.36, after Q_1 first-pulse conducting for $T_0/2$, the ellipse trajectory will hit the steady-state red circle. Thus, point B is on the steady-state circle with the center (0.5, 0), which means

$$\left(v_{CrN}(t_1) - 0.5\right)^2 + i_{LrN}^2(t_1) = \rho^2.$$
(5.20)

Therefore, from (5.16) to (5.20), $v_{CrN}(t_0)$ at point A could be solved.

When Q_1 last-pulse is early turned off, the resonant current i_{Lr} will go through Q_2 body diode. As illustrated in Fig. 2.3, it operates in Mode V. As shown in Fig. 5.36, it is partial circle with the center (-0.5, 0). Since this circle is much larger than the steady-state one. This partial circle can be simplified as a vertical line. Thus, $v_{CrN}(t_n)$ at Q_1 turn-off moment is approximately to be equal to $v_{CrN}(t_0)$, that is,

$$v_{CrN}(t_n) = v_{CrN}(t_0)$$
(5.21)

As shown in Fig. 5.36, the last-pulse conduction angle φ on the state plane is

$$\varphi = \sin^{-1} \left(\frac{i_{LmN}}{\rho} \right) + \cos^{-1} \left(\frac{0.5 - v_{CrN}(t_n)}{\rho} \right)$$
(5.22)

where i_{LmN} is Q_2 turn-off current under the steady state.

Converting this state-plane angle φ to the time-domain conduction time, the optimized Q_2 last-pulse width could be determined as

$$\Delta T = \frac{\varphi}{\omega_0} = \varphi \sqrt{L_r C_r}.$$
(5.23)

To sum up, by tuning Q_1 last-pulse width as (5.23), when the MC³ LLC starts to work again in the next PWM dimming cycle, the initial condition has been changed. Although maintaining Q_1 first-pulse, the dynamic oscillation could be eliminated as well when PWM dimming on-time starts.

The parameter-tolerance of (5.23) is discussed below. If the pre-determined Q₁ last-pulse width is 20% larger or 20% smaller than the required value, the simulation results are shown in Figs. 5.37 and 5.38. There will be some oscillations near the full-load steady state. However, compared with the result without any optimal tuning in Figs. 5.28 and 5.29, they are quite acceptable.



Fig. 5.37 Q_1 last-pulse width is 20% larger than the desired one



Fig. 5.38 Q_1 last-pulse width is 20% smaller than the desired one

5.3.5 Experimental results

The optimal trajectory approaches for the PWM dimming are verified on the 200W, 4channel MC³ LLC resonant LED driver prototype as shown in Fig. 5.39, whose parameters are shown in Table 5.2. The proposed optimal switching pattern is built in a Cyclone III FPGA using Verilog HDL.



Fig. 5.39 MC³ LLC resonant LED driver prototype

As shown in Fig. 5.40, when it comes to 2% dimming ratio, if without proposed optimal switching patterns, there are dynamic oscillations when MC³ LLC LED driver starts to work from the idle status. As a result, the LED current cannot be controlled precisely, especially under lower dimming conditions.

	Parameters	Value
Initial Design	Input voltage	380V
	LED full-load current I_{Full}	1A
	LED string full-load voltage	48V
	Resonant frequency f ₀	100kHz
	Inductor ratio L _n =L _m /L _r	5
	Transformer (T_1, T_2) turn ratio	2:1
	PWM dimming frequency	200Hz
Resonant Tank	Resonant capacitor C _r	20nF
	Resonant inductor L _r	123 µН
	T_1 leakage inductor L_{k1}	3.2 µH
	T_2 leakage inductor L_{k2}	3.4 µH
	T_1 magnetizing inductor L_{m1}	336 µН
	T_2 magnetizing inductor L_{m2}	335 µН
Devices	Primary main switches Q ₁ &Q ₂	STD13NM60N
	Secondary schottky diode	PDS4150
	Output switches S _{1,2,3,4}	BSC123N08NS3

Table 5.2 The parameters of MC³ LLC resonant converter



Fig. 5.40 Experiment without optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)

Then the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern is employed as shown in Fig. 5.41. Q_1 first-pulse width is tuned to be about $T_0/4$ as derived from (5.15), which is half of the original one. After that, the resonant current (i_{Lr}) will settle to the full-load steady state in the minimal period of time. There is no dynamic oscillation on the output current. The last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern is verified as shown in Fig.5.42. From (5.22), the conduction angle φ is $2\pi/3$, that is, Q_1 last-pulse width is tuned to be $T_0/3$ in (5.23), which is 1/3 less than the original one. Similarly, the full-load steady state can be tracked in one-pulse time.



Fig. 5.41 Experiment of the first-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)



Fig. 5.42 Experiment of the last-pulse-tuning optimal switching pattern (2% dimming)



Since there is no dynamic oscillation by tuning the first or last pulse width, as shown in Fig. 5.43, the LED luminary intensity can be controlled precisely even under 1% dimming condition.

Fig. 5.43 First-pulse and last-pulse tuning optimal switching pattern under 1% dimming

Fig. 5.44 shows the experimental trajectory comparison. By applying the proposed optimal switching patterns, the full-load steady state is tracked quickly. The dynamic trajectories are quite clean.



Fig. 5.44 Experimental trajectory comparison

As the LED dimming ratio increases, the PWM dimming on-time increases correspondingly as shown in Fig. 5.45. With the proposed optimal switching patterns, the output current is always flat during the dimming on-time.



Fig. 5.45 Experiment with optimal switching patterns (50% dimming)

Fig. 5.46 shows the efficiency comparison. Using the switching frequency controlled analog dimming approach, the efficiency drops quickly as the dimming ratio decreases. Since the switching frequency needs to increase to high, and it will produce more switching and driving losses. By employing the PWM dimming with proposed optimal switching pattern, the efficiency curve becomes flat from the full-load status. Since the MC³ LLC does always operate under the full-load steady state. Even under 1% dimming condition, the efficiency is still higher than 94%. (The efficiency is tested without considering the FPGA losses, since the final target is the IC integration, whose power consuming is much less than the FPGA.)



Fig. 5.46 Efficiency comparison with fs controlled analogy dimming

5.4 Conclusion

In this chapter, some optimal switching patterns for burst pulses are proposed for LLC resonant converters to keep high efficiency within the whole load range.

The three-pulse optimal switching pattern is proposed to achieve the best light-load efficiency and minimal output voltage ripple. The burst on-time is maintained, but the burst offtime is modulated by the light load conditions. Based on the state-plane trajectory, during the burst on-time, the first switching pulse width is optimized to settle to the steady state of the highest efficiency load condition in one pulse time. And the next two pulses operate at the resonant frequency point to follow the steady-state trajectory of the highest efficiency load. With the proposed burst mode, under all light loads, the LLC equivalently operates under the steady state of the best efficiency load condition. Thus, high light-load efficiency is achievable.

For the LED PWM dimming, two optimal switching patterns of the LLC resonant LED driver are proposed. One is tuning the first-pulse width during the PWM dimming on-time. Thus, the full-load steady state can be tracked within one-pulse time. Another one is tuning the last-pulse width, which will change the initial condition as the next PWM dimming cycle starts. Both of these will eliminate the dynamic oscillations in the resonant tank. Thus, flat output current can be achieved. As a result, the efficiency stays flat from the full-load point. Under low dimming conditions, the LED intensity can be controlled more precisely.

Chapter 6. Efficiency Improvement II: Universal Adaptive SR Driving Scheme and Extended Resonant Frequency Tracking

To improve the efficiency, the synchronous rectifiers (SR) are employed for the LLC resonant converter. A universal adaptive driving scheme for synchronous rectification (SR) is proposed in this chapter. The SR drain to source voltage is sensed, so that the paralleled body diode conduction is detected. Using the proposed SR driving scheme, the SR turn-off time is tuned to eliminate the body diode conduction. The SR gate driving signal can be tuned within all operating frequency regions. Moreover, a simple digital implementation is introduced. Compared with analog ones, it enables more intelligent and precise SR control. In addition, a pulse-width locked loop (PWLL) is presented for LLC-DCX resonant frequency tracking. By minimizing the pulse width difference between the main switch and the well-tuned SR gate-driving signals, the LLC-DCX always runs at the f_0 point to achieve the best efficiency.

6.1 Introduction

The LLC resonant converter is becoming more and more popular for its high efficiency, because of both ZVS for the primary-side main switches and ZCS for the secondary-side rectifiers. To further improve the efficiency, the synchronous rectifiers (SR) are employed, since the conduction loss is much lower than that of the diode rectifiers. However, the efficiency optimization depends on the well-adjustment of SR gate driving signals.

The desired SR gate driving signals for the LLC resonant converter are shown in Fig. 6.1. In different switching frequency regions, when the primary main switches Q_1 and Q_2 are turned on, the secondary side current i_{SEC} starts to go through the SRs, thus the SRs should be turned on synchronously with the main switches. However, the turn-off times of the SRs and the main switches are not exactly in phase. When operating below the resonant frequency (i.e. $f_s < f_0$), the SR should be turned off earlier than the main switch. Otherwise, the SR would conduct circulating energy, namely a reverse current from the load to the source, thus producing a greater increase in the RMS currents and turn-off current, and causing efficiency to deteriorate dramatically. When operating above the resonant frequency ($f_s > f_0$), the SR should be turned off a bit later than the main switch. Otherwise, the sharply decreased current would go through the paralleled body diode, resulting in a serious reverse recovery.



Fig. 6.1 Desired SR gate driving signals in different switching frequency regions

Therefore, the gate driving signals of SRs and main switches cannot derive from the same signal for controlling the conduction times as those in the PWM converters. Presently, there have been proposed several SR driving schemes [E.1-E.8].

One solution [E.1] is sensing secondary side current i_{SEC} to generate SR gate driving signal as shown in Fig. 6.2. This method is precise, but due to the large current on the secondary side, it requires a large size current transformer and it presents a lower efficiency due to the extra resistance of the transformer windings.



Fig. 6.2 Secondary side current sensing for SR driving

An alternative solution [E.2] is sensing current through the transformer's primary side winding as shown in Fig. 6.3. Provided that the resonant inductor L_r and magnetizing inductor L_m are external to the main transformer, the current though primary side winding is a precise replica of the secondary side current. Although a smaller loss could be achieved when compared to the secondary side current sensing, three magnetic components are needed, losing the integration of leakage, magnetizing inductors and transformer into one single element.



Fig. 6.3 Primary side current sensing for SR driving

In [E.3], the authors proposed a primary side resonant current i_{Lr} sensing method to determine the SR gate driving signals. However, it needs to decouple the magnetizing current i_{Lm} , and thus complicated auxiliary circuit is added.

Figure 6.4 shows a promising driving method based on sensing the SR drain to source voltage V_{dsSR} . The sensed V_{dsSR} is processed by the control circuits as follows [E.4]:

- before the SR is turned on, the paralleled body diode conducts shortly and there is a large forward voltage drop, which is compared with a threshold voltage V_{th_on} to turn on the SR;
- when the SR current is decreasing toward zero, V_{dsSR} also becomes small, which is then compared with another threshold voltage V_{th_off} to turn off the SR.



Fig. 6.4 Drain-to-source voltage V_{dsSR} sensing for SR driving

However, the accuracy of this driving scheme is highly affected by the SR package [E.5] [E.6]. Due to the inevitable package inductance, the sensed terminal drain to source voltage of the SR ($V_{d's'SR}$) is actually the sum of the MOSFET's on-status resistive voltage drop and the package inductive voltage drop, which deviates greatly from the purely resistive voltage drop of the MOSFET as the switching frequency increases. Therefore, the actual SR drive signal V_{gsSR} is significantly shorter than the expected value as shown in Fig. 6.5.



Fig. 6.5 Package inductance influence on SR driving

To compensate for the inductive characteristic of the sensed $V_{d's'}$, a carefully designed capacitive network can be connected to the sensed terminals [E.6], as shown in Fig. 6.6.



Fig. 6.6 The capacitive compensator network

However, the package inductance L_{SR} and the pure resistor R_{ds_on} need to be determined in advance to calculate the parameters of the components: C_{CS} and R_{CS} in the capacitive network. Although the inductive phase lead influence is diminished, the design and the parameter tuning are complicated.

Different from the above mentioned V_{ds} sensing, in [E.7],[E.8] the SR body diode forward voltage drop is detected to tune the gate driving signal. As shown in Fig. 6.7, V_{gsQ} is the primary main switch driving signal, and it synchronizes the sawtooth waveform V_{saw} , which is then compared with a control signal V_c to generate the SR driving signal V_{gsSR} . If the body diode conducts, the large forward voltage drop is sensed by the valley detection circuit; then V_c increases, and V_{gsSR} pulse width increases accordingly. Finally, the SR is tuned until the circuit cannot detect the body diode conduction. However, the maximum pulse width of the SR driving signal cannot be larger than that of the main switch, and thus it cannot be used when $f_s > f_0$. As

shown in Fig. 6.1, the SR pulse width should be tuned slightly larger than the main switch when $f_s > f_0$. Moreover, the design process of the analog compensator to generate V_c is complicated.



Fig. 6.7 Paralleled body diode conduction elimination for SR tuning

Therefore, an intelligent SR driving scheme is required, which can control the SR gate driving signal in the whole switching frequency regions with simple implementation.

6.2 Universal Adaptive SR Driving Scheme

6.2.1 Auto-tuning principle by detecting SR body-diode conduction

To well tune the SR gate driving signal within all switching frequency regions, the universal adaptive driving scheme is proposed as shown in Fig. 6.8. The turn-on time of the SR is the same with the primary main switch, but the turn-off time is digitally tuned based on the sensed SR
drain to source voltage V_{dsSR} . When the SR is turned off, the body diode conduction is detected by a comparator (CMP), since its forward voltage drop is much larger when compared with the MOSFET's on-status resistive voltage drop. If the body diode conducts, the SR pulse width is increased in the next switch cycle; if not, the SR pulse width is decreased. Thus, the SR gate driving signal is digitally tuned to eliminate the body diode conduction.



Fig. 6.8 Control blocks of the proposed universal adaptive SR driving scheme

The main waveforms are also reported in Fig. 6.9. The sensed V_{dsSR} is compared with the threshold voltage V_{th} at every turn-off moment, and then the compared result is sent to the digital logics. If body diode conducts, the comparator (CMP) output is high ('1'). As a consequence, the SR pulse width is increased in order to reduce the body diode conduction time. When the comparator output is low ('0'), there is no body diode conduction and the SR is considered to be tuned. Since it is not possible to detect when the SR pulse width is larger than needed, when the

comparator output is low, the SR duty is decreased by ΔD . Finally, the tuning algorithm alternates between the conditions reported in Fig. 6.9 (c) and 6.9 (d).

Since the SR gate driving signal is tuned in the closed loop, the delay effects produced by the comparator propagation, gate-driver propagation and so on can be compensated naturally. Now assuming these delays will make the SR turn off a bit later, and then the comparator will not sense the body diode conduction as in Fig. 6.9 (c). Thus, in the next switching cycle, the pulse width of SR gate driving signal will decrease correspondingly. Finally, it will alternate between the conditions shown in Fig. 6.9 (c) and 6.9 (d), which means that the delay effects have been compensated.



Fig. 6.9 SR turn-off tuning process by eliminating the body diode conduction

When $f_s > f_0$, if the SR is turned off earlier, the sharply decreased current will go through the body diode, producing a serious reverse recovery. However, with the proposed method, if a high time resolution is employed to sense the CMP output, the body diode conduction status could also be detected as well. Therefore, Fig. 6.10 shows that with the same process described above, the SR could be tuned well; to even $f_s > f_0$ region.



Fig. 6.10 The SR turn-off tuning process when $f_s > f_0$

As a summary, with the proposed universal adaptive SR driving scheme by minimizing the paralleled body diode conduction, the SR gate driving signal could be tuned within all operating frequency regions for the LLC resonant converter.

6.2.2 SR transient performance investigation

In the LLC resonant converter, the regulation of the output voltage is obtained by switching frequency variations. When the input voltage and load change slightly, the corresponding switching frequency f_s changes in the vicinity of resonant point f_0 , assuming that this is the designed point at the nominal condition. During the holdup time, the input voltage decreases rapidly; accordingly, f_s decreases with a similar speed to obtain a high gain. During over current

protection (OCP) or the constant current limitation process, f_s increases quickly from a normal operating point to above the resonant frequency region. Therefore, it is important to verify that during all these transient conditions there is no shoot-through. For such purposes, the transients associated to switching frequency variations are hereafter described.

Let's start with an f_s decrease at time t_1 as shown in Fig. 6.11, that is, the pulse widths of main switch signals V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} increase. For $f_s < f_0$, the SR current goes to zero earlier than the turn-off time of V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} shown in Fig. 6.1. If the SR gate driving signal is tuned fast, the SR is turned off earlier than the main switch. Even if the SR tuning process is slower, the SR is still turned off earlier, since the pulse widths of V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} have increased. In both cases, there is no shoot-through.



Fig. 6.11 Transient process as f_s decreases

Fig. 6.12 shows the case when f_s increases at time t_1 , that is, the pulse widths of the main switch gate driving signals V_{gsQ1} and V_{gsQ2} decrease. If the SR tuning process is slow, as shown in Fig.6.12, this means that the SR doesn't response to the increased switching frequency. If

$$\Delta T_2 > \Delta T_1 + t_{dead}, \tag{6.1}$$

from t_3 to t_4 , main switch Q_2 starts to conduct, but synchronous rectifier S_1 is still on. As a result, there will be a shoot-through between the main switch and the SR. Therefore, some protections should be designed to avoid shoot-through when f_s increases but SR does not respond quickly enough to follow the frequency variation.



Fig. 6.12 Transient process as fs increases

The provision that has been adopted is to limit the pulse width of the SR driving signal as shown in Fig. 6.13: if (6.1) is satisfied, the actual SR pulse width is limited to $\Delta T'_2$:

$$\Delta T'_2 = \Delta T_1 + \Delta t. \tag{6.2}$$

As shown in Fig. 6.1, since it is above the resonant frequency region $(f_s > f_0)$, the SR should be turned off slightly later than the primary main switch, thus Δt is added as the delayed turn-off time. In order to avoid shoot-through, Δt should be designed smaller than the dead time t_{dead} .



Fig. 6.13 SR pulse width limitation to avoid shoot-through when $f_{\rm s}\,$ increases

Sum up, Fig. 6.14 shows the flowchart of the proposed algorithm implemented in the digital logics. ΔD represents the time resolution of digital pulse width modulator (DPWM), which should be as small as possible to precisely tune the SR turn-off moment.



Fig. 6.14 Control flowchart of the proposed SR tuning process

6.2.3 Experimental results

The experiment is carried out on a 300W 400V/12V half bridge LLC resonant converter prototype. The main converter parameters are the same with Table 5.1. Fig. 6.15 shows the FPGA development kit, the LLC power stage, and the comparator board. The comparator board is plugged on the secondary side of the half bridge LLC resonant converter, comparing SR drain to source voltage V_{dsSR} with the threshold voltage V_{th} to determine the body diode conduction. Being a closed loop system, the delay time produced by the comparator, FPGA, and driver are compensated by the tuning algorithm.



Fig. 6.15 Hardware implementation photograph

Even if the application is targeted to IC integration, for rapid prototyping purposes the SR controller is built in ALTERA Cyclone III FPGA using the Verilog HDL. The maximum clock frequency insider the FPGA is set to be 250MHz, thus the time resolution ΔD is 4ns. After the estimation, there are about 700 logic gates built in the FPGA.

The SR turn-on moment is the same with the primary main switch, but the turn-off time is tuned by the proposed universal adaptive driving scheme.

Fig. 6.16 shows that during SR on status, the voltage drop is much smaller than the body diode forward voltage drop, since the on-status resistor R_{ds_on} is very small. At time t_1 , SR is turned off, and V_{dsSR} drops due to the body diode conduction, which is then compared with a threshold voltage V_{th} . Thus, the comparator (CMP) output V_{CMP} is high when body diode conducts.



Fig. 6.16 Waveforms before SR tuning

Fig. 6.17 shows that after the tuning process, the SR paralleled body diode conducts for a very short time. The comparator output is '0', '1', ... alternately, which demonstrates that the SR gate driving signal is always in the tuning process.



Fig. 6.17 Waveforms after SR tuning

Fig. 6.18 shows the SR gate drive waveforms using a commercial SR controller [E.4] designed for the LLC resonant converter. As analyzed in Section 6.1, due to the inductive characteristic of the sensed SR drain to source voltage, the SR is turned off earlier than desired. When f_s =500kHz, the SR duty cycle loss is nearly 170ns. Compared with this commercial SR controller, when using the proposed digital driving scheme, there is almost no SR duty cycle loss as shown in Fig. 6.19.



Fig. 6.18 SR duty cycle loss when using the commercial SR driving controllers



Fig. 6.19 Improved performance when using the proposed SR driving scheme

Fig. 6.20 shows the efficiency comparison between the commercial SR controller and proposed digital SR driving scheme. The LLC resonant converter efficiency is improved by 0.46% at the full load when $f_s=500$ kHz. To increase the power density, the switching frequency f_s will be pushed to even higher in future; as a result, the influence of the parasitic inductance becomes



more serious. Thus there will be more duty cycle loss when using the commercial SR controllers. With the proposed solution, the efficiency improvement will become much more significant.

Fig. 6.20 Efficiency comparison with the commercial SR controllers

As analyzed in Section 6.2.2, when f_s decreases, there is no shoot-through concern. Thus the f_s increase transient is tested in Fig. 6.21. When f_s increases, the limitation (6.2) to the pulse width of the SR gate driving signal is active to prevent the shoot-through. Fig. 6.21 shows the waveforms when f_s increases from 500 kHz to 700 kHz in several switching cycles. After SR has been fully turned off, the drain to source voltage V_{dsSR} starts to build up slowly. ZCS is kept and no shoot-through is guaranteed even if f_s increases up to 700kHz.



Fig. 6.21 Protection to avoid shoot-through when fs increases quickly

6.3 Resonant Frequency Tracking based on SR Driving Signal

6.3.1 Pulse width locked loop (PWLL) for resonant frequency tracking

If the synchronous rectifier (SR) driving signals are tuned well, as the secondary side current i_{SEC} goes across zero, the SR should be turned off immediately, so it behaves like a "virtual current sensor". Thus, based on the well-tuned SR gate-driving signals, the resonant frequency f_0 can always be tracked.

With the universal adaptive SR driving scheme, the SR should be turned off when i_{SEC} crosses zero. Fig. 6.22 shows that when $f_s < f_0$, the SR should be turned off earlier than the main switch; that is, the pulse width of SR driving signal (T₂) is smaller than that of main switch (T₁) (i.e. $\Delta T = T_2 - T_1 < 0$).



Fig. 6.22 Pulse width of the SR driving signal is smaller than the main switch when $f_s < f_0$

If $f_s > f_0$, Fig. 6.23 shows that the SR should be turned off a bit later than the main switch to conduct the sharply decreased current. This means that the pulse width of the SR driving signal (T₂) is larger than that of the main switch (T₁) (i.e. $\Delta T = T_2 - T_1 > 0$).

When $f_s=f_0$, the well-tuned SR is turned off at the same time with the main switch shown in Fig. 6.24.

From Fig. 6.22 to Fig. 6.24, only when $f_s=f_0$, the pulse width of main switch driving signal T_1 is equal to that of SR T_2 (i.e. $\Delta T=0$). Therefore, by tuning the switch frequency f_s to minimize the pulse width difference between the main switch and the well-tuned SR gate-driving signal, the LLC resonant frequency point f_0 can always be tracked.



Fig. 6.23 Pulse width the SR driving signal is larger than the main switch when $f_s > f_0$



Fig. 6.24 Pulse width of the SR driving signal is the same as the main switch when $f_s=f_0$

Like the phase-locked loop (PLL), the resonant frequency is tracked by minimizing the phase difference. The proposed pulse-width locked loop (PWLL) is illustrated in Fig. 6.25, and is intended to minimize the pulse width difference between the main switch and the well-tuned SR driving signals. Thus, the LLC-DCX is always fixed to operate at the resonant frequency point $(f_s=f_0)$.



Fig. 6.25 Control block of f₀ tracking based on the SR gate-driving signal

Assuming the LLC initially operates within $f_s < f_0$ region, the pulse width of the SR driving signal is smaller than that of the main switch by ΔT as shown in Fig. 6.22 and Fig. 6.26. With the proposed f_0 tracking approach using PWLL, the switching frequency f_s will increase by Δf . Then at the new switching frequency point (i.e. $f_s + \Delta f$), after the SR has been well tuned, if the pulse

width of the SR driving signal is still smaller than that of the main switch, f_s will increase by Δf again. Thus, f_s increases step by step to minimize the pulse width difference between the main switch and SR driving signals. Finally, f_s is tuned to be equal to f_0 when the main switch is turned off at the same time as SR, as shown in Fig. 6.26.



Fig. 6.26 F_0 tracking process (from $f_s < f_0$ to $f_s = f_0$)

Fig. 6.27 shows the tuning process from $f_s > f_0$ to $f_s = f_0$ with the same principle. Due to the tolerance, the LLC may initially operate within the $f_s > f_0$ region, where SR driving signal pulse width is a bit larger than the main switch. During the f_0 tracking process, the pulse-width difference is minimized by decreasing f_s step by step. Similarly, as the main switch turns off at the same time as SR, the switching frequency f_s is tuned to be f_0 .



Fig. 6.27 F_0 tracking process (from $f_s > f_0$ to $f_s = f_0$)

Sum up, Fig. 6.28 shows the flowchart implemented in the digital logics.



Fig. 6.28 Control flowchart of PWLL to track f₀

In Fig. 6.29, no matter what the initial switching frequency is, the PWLL will tune it converging to the resonant frequency point in a uni-direction. Therefore, the tuning process is always stable.



Fig. 6.29 Stable uni-direction tuning process of PWLL

After tuning with PWLL, the resonant frequency f_0 can be tracked quite well. Since f_0 is determined by the resonant components. During the load transient, f_0 does not vary, and the pulse width of the well-tuned SR gate driving signal keeps the same. Thus, PWLL can work normally, and there is no dynamic unstable crisis.

6.3.2 Experimental results

Initially, let the LLC-DCX run below or above the resonant frequency point. Fig. 6.30 shows that within the $f_s < f_0$ region ($f_s=400$ kHz), after the SR has been tuned well, the pulse width of the SR gate-driving signal is smaller than that of the main switch by ΔT_1 . When $f_s > f_0$ ($f_s=600$ kHz), the SR will turn off a bit later than the main switch by ΔT_2 , to let the sharply decreased current go through the SR, as shown in Fig. 6.31.



Fig. 6.30 Pulse width of SR driving signal is smaller than main switch when $f_s < f_0$



Fig. 6.31 Pulse width of SR driving signal is larger than main switch when $f_s > f_0$

After the SR gate-driving signal has been well tuned, the pulse-width locked loop (PWLL) takes over, to tune the switching frequency f_s by minimizing the pulse width difference between the main switch and the SR gate-driving signals. Fig. 6.32 shows that after tuning, the main switch turns off at the same time as the SR, and f_s is automatically tracked to be 530 kHz.



Fig. 6.32 Tracking $f_s=f_0$ by minimizing the pulse width difference between the main switch and the welltuned SR gate-driving signals

Figure 6.33 verifies the resonant frequency tracking performance as the load changes. According to the sinusoid resonant current waveforms under all load conditions, the resonant frequency f_0 is tracked quite well.



Fig. 6.33 F₀ is tracked well under different load conditions

Figure 6.34 verifies that during load transients, the PWLL can tack f_0 well. There is no dynamic unstable.

Figure 6.35 provides an efficiency comparison, where we see that the highest efficiency can be achieved by using the proposed PWLL resonant frequency tracking approach. This is thanks to the less conduction losses compared with Fig. 6.30 when operating below the f_0 point; as well as no reverse recovery and less switching losses compared with Fig. 6.31 when running above the f_0 .



Fig. 6.34 F₀ tracking during load transients



Fig. 6.35 Efficiency improvement with PWLL resonant frequency tracking

6.4 Conclusion

The universal adaptive SR driving scheme for LLC resonant converters is proposed and its digital implementation is experimentally verified in this chapter. By sensing the SR drain to source voltage and comparing with the threshold, the body diode conduction status is detected. The digital logic tunes the SR duty cycle to eliminate the body diode conduction in order to achieve the highest efficiency in all operating frequency regions. Finally, the protection is investigated to avoid shoot-through during the transient process. In addition, a novel switching frequency control scheme for the LLC-DCX is proposed. By setting the well-tuned SR gatedriving signal as the control reference and using the pulse-width locked loop (PWLL) to minimize the pulse width difference between the SR and the main switch driving signals, the resonant frequency is always tracked ($f_s=f_0$).

Chapter 7. Conclusion and Future Work

7.1 Conclusion

The LLC resonant converter exhibits higher efficiency and higher power density than conventional PWM converters. Thus, it has been widely adopted as a desirable power supply for telecoms, servers, desktops, laptops, flat-panel TVs, LED lighting, etc. To further improve the LLC performance, several novel concepts and techniques have been developed in this dissertation.

In the beginning, the two-dimension (2D) state-plane trajectory analysis is proposed for the LLC resonant converter. All the resonant tank information such as the resonant capacitor voltage v_{Cr} , the resonant inductor current i_{Lr} , and the magnetizing inductor current i_{Lm} are clearly presented in the state plane. The steady-state trajectories within the whole operation range are described. The dynamic trajectories during the load transient, start-up and the burst operation are illustrated as well.

Next, to improve the load transient response, a simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) for the LLC resonant converter is proposed. Near the steady state, a linear compensator like PI and PID is used, controlling the switching frequency to eliminate the steady-state error. During load transients, the optimal trajectory control (OTC) takes over, tuning the pulse widths of the gate driving signals based on the sensed load current. Using the state plane analysis, the pulse widths are calculated, letting the state variables track the desired trajectory within the minimal

period of time. It features simple implementation, dramatic improvement in load-step response and easy integration with existing analog controllers.

After that, an optimal process for LLC soft start-up and over-load protection is presented based on a graphical state-trajectory analysis. To settle the initial condition, the unsymmetricalband approach, slop-band control, and one-cycle control are investigated. Then, by sensing the output voltage, the optimal frequency is calculated within a predetermined current limitation band. Therefore, the resonant current and voltage stress is well limited during these highly dynamic processes.

Furthermore, to improve the LLC light-load efficiency, a three-pulse optimal switching pattern is proposed to achieve the best light-load efficiency and minimal output voltage ripple. The burst on-time is maintained, but the burst off-time is modulated by the light load conditions. Based on the state-plane trajectory, during the burst on-time, the first switching pulse width is optimized to settle to the steady state of the highest efficiency load condition in one-pulse time. And the next two pulses operate at the resonant frequency point to follow the steady-state trajectory of the highest efficiency load. With the proposed burst mode, under all light loads, the LLC equivalently operates under the steady state of the best efficiency load condition. Thus, high light-load efficiency can be ensured.

For PWM dimming of LLC resonant LED driver, two optimal switching patterns are proposed. One is tuning the first-pulse width during the PWM dimming on-time. Thus, the fullload steady state can be tracked within one-pulse time. Another one is tuning the last-pulse width, which will change the initial condition as the next PWM dimming cycle starts. Both of these will eliminate the dynamic oscillations in the resonant tank. Thus, flat output current can be achieved. The efficiency stays high and flat from the full-load point. Under low dimming conditions, the LED intensity can be controlled more precisely

Finally, a universal adaptive SR driving scheme is proposed and its digital implementation is experimentally verified. By sensing the SR drain to source voltage and comparing with the threshold, the body diode conduction status is detected. The digital logic tunes the SR duty cycle to eliminate the body diode conduction to achieve good efficiency. After that, the protection is investigated to avoid shoot-through during the transient processes. In addition, by setting the well-tuned SR gate-driving signal as the control reference, a novel resonant frequency tracking scheme is proposed for the unregulated LLC (LLC-DCX). Using the pulse-width locked loop (PWLL) to minimize the pulse width difference between the SR and the main switch driving signals, the resonant frequency of LLC-DCX is always tracked ($f_s=f_0$).

7.2 Future Work

All of these novel implementations proposed in this work will improve the LLC dynamic responses and overall efficiency. Following this research, there are still some remaining works can be done:

1. The proposed simplified optimal trajectory control (SOTC) can significantly improve the load transient response. However, the load current needs to be sensed precisely to determine the optimal pulse widths, which is difficult to be implemented. Some voltage sensing approaches reflecting the load condition needs to be investigated to further simplify its implementation.

2. Like the load transient response, the LLC dynamic response with the input voltage variation can to be analyzed and improved based the graphic state-plane in the future. During the holdup time operation, the input voltage decreases. The LLC state trajectory can be analyzed to determine the holdup capability with different resonant tank parameters.

3. The loss distribution under the burst mode should be investigated. Thus, the theoretical boundary between the normal operation mode and the burst mode can be determined.

4. All the improvements proposed in this work can be integrated in one universal controller such as FPGA and DSP in the future.

5. The 2D state-plane analysis approach for the LLC resonant converter can be extended to other multi-element resonant converters like LCL, CLL, etc.

References

A. Background & Introduction

[A.1] W. A. Tabisz, M. M. Jovanovic, and F. C. Lee, "Present and future of distribution power systems", in Proc. APEC 1992, pp. 11-18.

[A.2] G. C. Hua, W. A., Tabisz, C. S. Leu, N. Dai, R. Watson, F. C. Lee, "Development Of a dc distributed power system," in Proc. IEEE APEC 1994, vol.2, pp. 763 -769.

[A.3] F.C. Lee, P. Barbosa, P. Xu, J. Zhang, B. Yang, F. Canales, "Topologies and design considerations for distributed power system applications," in Proc. of the IEEE, Volume 89 Issue: 6, June 2001, pp: 93–950.

[A.4] S. K. Mazumder, K. Shenai, "On the reliability of distributed power systems: a macro- to micro- level overview using a parallel DC-DC converter," in Proc. IEEE PESC, 2002, pp. 809-814.

[A.5] B. Yang, "Topology investigation for front end DC-DC power conversion for distributed power system," Ph.D dissertation in Virginia Tech, 2003.

[A.6] M. M. Jovanovic, "Technology drivers and trends in power supplies for computer/telecom," APEC 2006, Plenary session presentation.

[A.7] B. Lu, "Investigation of high-density integrated solution for AC/DC conversion of a distributed power system," Ph.D dissertation in Virginia Tech, 2006.

[A.8] Y. Liu, "High efficiency optimization of LLC resonant converter for wide load range,"M.S. thesis in Virginia Tech, 2007.

[A.9] A. Pratt, P. Kumar, T. V. Aldridge, "Evaluation of 400V DC distribution in telco and data centers to improve energy efficiency," in Proc. IEEE INTELEC, 2007, pp. 32-39.

[A.10] M. Ton, B. Fortenbery, and W. Tschudi, " DC power for improved data center efficiency," [Online]. Available: http://hightech.lbl.gov/dc-powering/about.html, Jan. 2007.

[A.11] D. Fu, "Topology investigation and system optimization of resonant converters," PhD dissertation in Virginia Tech, 2010.

[A.12] D. J. Becker, "400Vdc power distribution: Overcoming the challenges," in Proc. IEEE INTELEC, 2010, pp. 1-10.

[A.13] 80Plus Program [Online]. Available: http://www.80plus.org/index.html, Mar. 2012.

[A.14] Energy Start Program [Online]. Available: http://www.energystar.gov, 2012.

[A.15] Climate Savers Computing Initiative [Online]. Available: http://www.climatesavers computing.org, 2012.

[A.16] Texas Instruments User's Guide (Nov. 2009). UCC28810EVM-003 110W multiple string LED driver with universal line input and PFC [Online]. Available: http://www.ti.com /lit/ug/sluu380b/ sluu380b.pdf.

[A.17] H. Chiu, Y. Lo, J. Chen, S. Cheng, "A high-efficiency dimmable LED driver for low-power lighting applications," IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics, vol. 57, Issue 2, pp. 735-1743, Feb. 2010.

[A.18] Q. Hu, R. Zane, "LED driver circuit with series-input-connected converter cells operating in continuous conduction mode," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 25, Issue 3, pp. 574-582, Mar. 2010.

[A.19] H. Wu, S. Ji, F. C. Lee, X. Wu, "Multi-channel constant current (MC³) LLC resonant LED driver," in Proc. IEEE ECCE'11, pp. 2568- 2575, 2011.

[A.20] D. Reusch, F. C. Lee, D. Gilham, Y. Su, "Optimization of a high density gallium nitride based non-isolated point of load module", in Proc. IEEE ECCE 2012, pp. 2914-2920.

[A.21] X. Huang, Z. Liu, Q. Li, F.C. Lee, "Evaluation and application of 600V GaN HEMT in cascode structure," in Proc. IEEE APEC 2013.

[A.22] S. Ji, D. Reusch, F. C. Lee, "High-frequency high power density 3-D integrated galliumnitride based point of load module design," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 28, Issue 9, pp. 4216-4226, Sep. 2013.

[A.23] Y. Su, Q. Li, F. C. Lee, "Design and evaluation of a high-frequency LTCC inductor substrate for a three-dimensional integrated DC/DC converter," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 28, Issue 9, pp. 4354-4355, Sep. 2013.

[A.24] Intel Corporation, NEC Corporation, Dell Computer Corporation, Data General a division of EMC Corporation, Compaq Computer Corporation, Silicon Graphics Inc., and International Business Machines Corporation, "A server system infrastructure (SSI) specification for entry chassis power supplies," 1998.

[A.25] G. S. Leu, G. Hua, and F. C. Lee, "Comparison of forward circuit topologies with various reset scheme," VPEC 9th Seminar, 1991.

[A.26] W. Chen, F.C. Lee, M.M. Jovanovic, J.A. Sabate, "A comparative study of a class of full bridge zero voltage switched PWM converters," in Proc. IEEE APEC 1995, pp. 893-899.

[A.27] X. Ruan; Y. Yan, "Soft-switching techniques for PWM full bridge converters," in Proc. IEEE PESC 2000, vol.2, pp. 634 -639.

[A.28] W. Chen, P. Xu, F.C. Lee, "The optimization of asymmetrical half bridge converter," in Proc. IEEE APEC 2001, vol.2, pp. 603-707.

[A.29] V. Vorperian, "Analysis of resonant converters," PhD dissertation in California Institute of Technology, 1984.

[A.30] J. T. Yang ,F. C. Lee, "Computer aided design and analysis of series resonant converters," in Proc. IEEE IAS'87 1987, pp.954-959.

[A.31] F. S. Tsai, F. C. Lee, "A complete dc characterization of a constant-frequency, clampedmode, series resonant converter," Proc IEEE PESC'88, 1988, vol. 2, pp.987-996.

[A.32] B. Yang, F. C. Lee, A. J. Zhang, and G. Huang, "LLC resonant converter for front end DC/DC conversion," in Proc. IEEE APEC, 2002, pp.1108-1112

[A.33] B. Lu, W. Liu, Y. Liang, F. C. Lee, and J. D. van Wyk, "Optimal design methodology for LLC resonant converter," in Proc. IEEE APEC, 2006, pp.533-538.

[A.34] T. Liu, Z. Zhou, A. Xiong, J. Zeng, and J. Ying, "A novel precise design method for LLC series resonant converter," in Proc. IEEE INTELEC, 2006, pp.1-6.

[A.35] H. Groot, E. Janssen, R. Pagano, K. Schetters, "Design of a 1-MHz LLC resonant converter based on a DSP-driven SOI half-bridge power MOS module", IEEE Trans. on PE., vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 2307-2320, Nov. 2007.

[A.36] F. C. Lee, S. Wang, P. Kong, C. Wang, and D. Fu, "Power architecture design with improved system efficiency, EMI and power density", in Proc. IEEE PESC, 2008, pp. 4131-4137.

[A.37] C. Prasantanakorn, "Current sharing method for resonant DC-DC transformers," Master thesis in Virginia Tech, 2011.

[A.38] On Semiconductor, "NCP1395LLCGEVB: 240W LLC evaluation board," [online], available:http://www.onsemi.com/PowerSolutions/evalBoard.do?id=NCP1395LLCGEVB, Feb, 2006.

[A.39] Texas Instrument, "UCC25600EVM: LLC resonant half bridge converter 300 W evaluation module," [online], available: http://www.ti.com/lit/ug/sluu361/sluu361.pdf, Apr, 2009.

[A.40] STMicroelectronics, "STEVAL-ISA018V1 demonstration board based on resonant halfbridge SMPS for industrial applications," [online], available: http://www.st.com/internet/com/

191

TECHNICAL_RESOURCES/TECHNICAL_LITERATURE/USER_MANUAL/CD00238992.p df, May, 2010.

[A.41] Power Integration, "Reference design report for a 150 W LLC high-voltage DC-DC resonant converter using hiperLCSTM LCS702HG," [online], available: http://www.powerint. com/sites/default/files/PDFFiles/rdr239.pdf, Sep, 2011.

[A.42] Infineon, "ICE2HS01G: High performance resonant mode controler," [online], available:http://www.infineon.com/dgdl/Design+Guide+for+LLC+Converter+with+ICE2HS01G +05072011.pdf?folderId=db3a304412b407950112b408e8c90004&fileId=db3a304330f68606013 103ebd94f3e98, May, 2011.

[A.43] NXP Semiconductors, "TEA1713T: Resonant power supply control IC with PFC," [online], available: http://www.nxp.com/documents/data_sheet/TEA1713T.pdf, Feb, 2011.

[A.44] Fairchild Semiconductor, "FAN7621: PFM controller for half-bridge resonant converters," [online], available: http://www.fairchildsemi.com/ds/FA/FAN7621.pdf, July, 2010.

B. Simplified Optimal Trajectory Control

[B.1] R. D. Middlebrook, and S. Cuk, "A general unified approach to modeling switchingconverter power stages," in Proc. IEEE-PESC'1976. pp. 36-57.

[B.2] V. Vorperian, "Simplified analysis of PWM converters using model of PWM switch part I: continuous conduction mode," IEEE Trans. on Aerosp. and Electron. Syst., vol. 26, Issue 3, pp. 490-496, 1990.

[B.3] R. J. King and T. A. Stuart, "Small-signal model of the series resonant converter," IEEE Trans. on Aerosp. Electron. Syst., vol. AES-21, Issue. 3, pp. 01-319, May 1985.

[B.4] E. X. Yang, F. C. Lee, and M. M. Jovanovic, "Small-signal modeling of LCC resonant converter," in Proc. IEEE-PESC'92, pp.167-178, 1992.

[B.5] V. A. Caliskan, G. C. Verghese, and A. M. Stankovic, "Multifrequency averaging of DC/DC converters," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol. 14, Issue. 1, pp. 124-133, Jan. 1999.

[B.6] B. Yang and F. C. Lee, "Small-signal analysis for LLC resonant converter," in CPES Seminar, 2003, S7.3, pp.144-149, 2003.

[B.7] R. Oruganti, and F.C. Lee, "Resonant power processors, Part I- state plane analysis", IEEE Trans. on Industry Application, vol.IA-21, Issue 6, pp. 1453-1460, 1985.

[B.8] R. Oruganti, and F.C. Lee, "Resonant power processors, Part II- methods of control", IEEE Trans. on Industry Application, vol. IA-21, Issue 6, pp. 1461-1471, 1985.

[B.9] C. Q. Lee, and K. Siri, "Analysis and design of series resonant converter by state plane diagram," IEEE Trans. on Aeros. and Electron. Syst. vol. AES-22, Issue 6, pp. 757-763, Nov. 1986.

[B.10] R. Oruganti, J. J. Yang, and F.C. Lee, "Implementation of optimal trajectory control or series resonant converter", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 3, Issue 3, pp. 318-327, 1988.

[B.11] F. Tsai, Y. Chin, and F. Lee, "State plane analysis of a constant frequency clamped mode parallel resonant converter," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics., vol. 3, Issue 3, pp. 364-377, July 1988.

[B.12] R. Liu, C. Q. Lee, "The LLC-type series resonant converter-variable switching frequency control," in Proc. IEEE-Circuits and systems 1989, pp.509-512.

[B.13] I. Batarseh, R. Liu, C. Q. Lee, and A. K. Upadhyay, "Theoretical and experimental studies of the LCC-type parallel resonant converter" IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics., vol. 5, Issue 2, pp. 140-150, Apr. 1990.

[B.14] S. Sivakumar, K. Natarajan, and A. M. Sharaf, "Optimal trajectory control of series resonant converter using modified capacitor voltage control technique," in Proc. IEEE-PESC' 91, pp. 752-759, June 1991.

[B.15] R. Liu, and C. Q. Lee, "Series resonant converter with third order commutation network," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 7, Issue. 3, pp. 462-468, July 1992.

[B.16] M. Kim, and J. Kim, "Modeling and optimal trajectory control of the series resonant converter pulse-width modulated or current-controlled for low switching loss," in Proc. IEEE-APEC'1993, pp. 752-758, 1993.

[B.17] I. Batarseh, "State-plane approach for analysis of half-bridge parallel resonant converters," in IEE Proc. Circuits, Devices, and Systems, vol. 142, Issue 3, pp. 200-204, June 1995.

[B.18] L. Rossetto, "A simple control technique for series resonant converters", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol.11, Issue.4, pp. 554-560, July 1996.

[B.19] C. Hao, E. K. K. Sng, King-Jet, Tseng, "Generalized optimal trajectory control for closed loop control of series-parallel resonant converter," IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol.21, Issue.5, pp. 1347-1355, 2006.

[B.20] J. Jang, M. Joung, B, Choi, and H. Kim, "Dynamic analysis and control design of optocoupler isolated LLC series resonant converters with wide input and load variations," in Proc. IEEE-ECCE'09, pp.758-765, 2009

[B.21] M. Joung, H. Kim, and J. Baek, "Dynamic analysis and optimal design of high efficiency full bridge LLC resonant converter for server power system," in Proc. IEEE-APEC'12, pp. 1292-1297, Feb. 2012.

[B.22] C. Adragna, A. V. Novelli, C. L. Sentoro, "Charge mode control device for a resonant converter," U.S. patent, US 2001/0157927 A1, Jun 30, 2011.

[B.23] J. Jang, M. Joung, S. Choi, Y. Choi, and B. Choi, "Current mode control for LLC series resonant DC-to-DC converters," in Proc. IEEE-APEC'11, pp.21-27, 2011.

[B,24] H. Choi, "Current mode control for resonant converter circuits," U.S. patent, US 8,085,559 B1, Dec. 27, 2011.

[B.25] H. Choi, "Sampled charge control for resonant converter," U.S. patent, US 2012/0069605 A1, Mar. 22, 2012.

C. Burst Mode to Improve Light Load Efficiency

[C.1] X. Zhang, and D. Maksimovic, "Digital PWM-PFM controller with input voltage feed-forward for synchronous buck converters", in Proc. IEEE APEC, 2008, pp. 523-528.

[C.2] Fairchild Semiconductor, "FAN 5234: Dual mobile-friendly PWM/PFM controller" [Online]. Available: http://www.fairchildsemi.com/ds/FA/FAN5234.pdf, 2004.

[C.3] J. Sun, M. Xu, Y. Ren, and F.C. Lee, "Light-load efficiency improvement for buck voltage regulators", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 24, Issue 3, pp. 742-751, 2009.

[C.4] Linear Technology, "LTC3833: Fast accurate step-down DC/DC controller with differential output sensing" [Online]. Available: http://cds.linear.com/docs/Datasheet/ 3833f.pdf, 2010.

[C.5] D. M. Dwelley, "Voltage mode feedback burst mode circuit", U.S. Patent 6,307,356 B1, Oct. 23, 2001.

[C.6] B. Wang, X. Xin, S. Wu, H. Wu, and J. Ying, "Analysis and implementation of LLC burst mode for light load efficiency improvement", in Proc. IEEE APEC, 2009, pp. 58-64.

[C.7] Y. Jang, and M.M. Jovanovic, "Light-load efficiency optimization method", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 67-74, Jan. 2010.

[C.8] H. Halberstadt, "Method of operating a resonant power converter and a controller therefor",U.S. Patent 2011/0002145 A1, Jan. 6, 2011.

D. LED PWM Dimming

[D.1] J. Y. Tsao, "Solid-state lighting: lamps, chips and materials for tomorrow," in IEEE Circuits Devices Mag., vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 28–37, May-June 2004.

[D.2] M. S. Shur, and A. Zukauskas, "Solid-state lighting: toward superior illumination," in Proc. IEEE, vol. 93, no. 10, pp. 1691–1703, Oct. 2005.

[D.3] Texas Instruments User's Guide "UCC28810EVM-003 110W multiple string LED driver with universal line input and PFC," Nov. 2009.

[D.4] C. Chen, C. Wu, Y. Chen, and T. Wu, "Sequential color LED backlight driving system for LCD panels," in IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics., vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 919–925, May 2007.

[D.5] M. Dyble, N. Narendran, A. Bierman, and T. Klein, "Impact of dimming white LEDs: chromaticity shifts due to different dimming methods", in Proc of SPIE, 5th International Conference on Solid State Lighting, 2005.

E. Synchronous Rectifier Driving Scheme

[E.1] X. Xie, J. Liu, F.N.K. Poon, M. Pong, "A novel high frequency current-driven SR applicable to most switching topologies", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 16, issue. 5, 2001, pp. 635-648.

[E.2] D. Huang, D. Fu, F.C. Lee, "High switching frequency, high efficiency CLL resonant converter with synchronous rectifier", in IEEE ECCE, 2009, pp. 804-809.

[E.3] X. Wu, G. Hua, J. Zhang, Z. Qian, "A new current-driven synchronous rectifier for series– parallel resonant (LLC) DC-DC converter", IEEE Trans. on Industrial Electronics, vol. 58, issue. 1, 2011, pp. 289-297. [E.4] International Rectifier, "IR11672AS: Advanced smart rectifier control IC" [Online]. Available: http://www.irf.com/product-info/datasheets/data/ir11672aspbf.pdf.

[E.5] M. Pavier, A. Sawle, A. Woodworth, R. Monteiro, J. Chiu, C. Blake, "High frequency DC-DC power conversion: the influence of package parasitic", in IEEE APEC, 2003, vol. 2, pp. 699-702.

[E.6] D. Fu, Y. Liu, F.C. Lee, M. Xu, "A novel driving scheme for synchronous rectifiers in LLC resonant converters", IEEE Trans. on Power Electronics, vol. 24, issue. 5, 2009, pp.1321-1329.

[E.7] L. Cheng, T. Liu, H. Gan, J. Ying, "Adaptive synchronous rectification control circuit and method thereof", U.S. Patent 7,495,934 B2, Feb.24, 2009.

[E.8] Texas Instruments, "UCC27223: High efficiency predictive synchronous buck driver with enable" [Online]. Available: http://focus.ti.com/lit/ds/slus558/slus558.pdf.

F. Resonant Frequency Tracking

[F.1] J. Y. Lee, Y. S. Jeong, H. J. Chae, K.M. Yoo, J. J. Chang, and J. H. Chang. "Two-stage insulated bidirectional DC/DC power converter using a constant duty ratio LLC resonant converter," U.S. patent, US 2011/0090717 A1, Apr. 21. 2011.

[F.2] B. W. RYU, G. W. Moon, S. W. Choi, J. C. Kim, and D. S. OH, "Adapter power supply," U.S. patent, US 2012/0069603 A1, Mar. 22. 2012.

[F.3] P. Vinciarelli, "Factorized power architecture with point of load sine amplitude converters," U.S. patent, US 6,984,965 B2, Jan. 10. 2006.

[F.4] H. J. Zwerver, "Automatic frequency control for series resonant switched mode power supply," U.S. patent, US 2009/0115381 A1, Mar. 7. 2009.
[F.5] H. Heng, Y. Pei, X. Yang, F. Wang, and C. W. Tipton, "Frequency tracking control for cap-charging parallel resonant converter with phase-locked loop," in Proc. IEEE APEC, 2007, pp.1287-1292.

[F.6] Y. Yan, M. Shirazi, and R. Zane, "Electronic ballast control IC with digital phase control and lamp current regulation," IEEE Transactions on Power Electronics, vol.23, no.1, pp.11-18, Jan. 2008.